## HORMONAL REGULATION OF CARBOXYPEPTIDASE-D GENE TRANSCRIPTION IN BREAST CANCER CELLS

by

### SAMIR KOIRALA

# Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia April 2013

© Copyright by Samir Koirala, 2013

#### **DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY**

#### DEPARTMENT OF BIOCHEMISTRY AND MOLECULAR BIOLOGY

The undersigned hereby certify that they have read and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance a thesis entitled "HORMONAL REGULATION OF CARBOXYPEPTIDASE- D GENE TRANSCRIPTION IN BREAST CANCER CELLS" by Samir Koirala in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

Dated: April 16, 2013

Supervisor:

Readers:

#### DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

#### DATE: April 16, 2013

#### AUTHOR: Samir Koirala

## TITLE: HORMONAL REGULATION OF CARBOXYPEPTIDASE-D GENE TRANSCRIPTION IN BREAST CANCER CELLS

DEPARTME	NT OR SCHOOL:	Department of Bi	ochemistry	& Molecular	Biology
DEGREE:	MSc	CONVOCATION:	October	YEAR:	2013

Permission is herewith granted to Dalhousie University to circulate and to have copied for non-commercial purposes, at its discretion, the above title upon the request of individuals or institutions. I understand that my thesis will be electronically available to the public.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

The author attests that permission has been obtained for the use of any copyrighted material appearing in the thesis (other than the brief excerpts requiring only proper acknowledgement in scholarly writing), and that all such use is clearly acknowledged.

Signature of Author

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

List of Figures	viii
Abstract	ix
List of Abbreviations and Symbols Used	Х
Acknowledgements	xiv
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Breast Cancer	1
1.1.1 Statistics	1
1.1.2 Risk factors	1
1.1.3 Therapies for Breast Cancer	3
1.2 Estrogen	5
1.2.1 Estrogen Receptors	6
1.2.2 Signal Transduction of the ER	7
1.2.3 Estrogen, Estrogen Receptor and Breast Cancer	8
1.3 Prolactin	10
1.3.1 Pituitary and Extrapitutary Prolactin Gene Expression	11
1.3.2 PRL Receptor	12
1.3.3 Activation of Prolactin Receptor Signalling	15
1.3.4 PRL and Breast Cancer	18
1.4 Androgen	20
1.4.1 Androgen Receptor	21
1.4.2 Molecular Mechanisms of Androgen Action	23
1.4.3 Androgen, AR and Breast Cancer Risk	25
1.5 Carboxypeptidases	27
1.5.1 Carboxypeptidase D	28
1.6 Nitric Oxide	31
1.6.1 NO, Cell Proliferation and Cancer	32

CH	APTER 2. MATERIAL AND METHODS	36
2.1	Antibodies	36
2.2	Cell culture	36
2.3	Transfection of Plasmid	37
2.4	Transfection of Small Interfering Ribonucleic Acid (siRNA)	37
2.5	Preparation of total cell lysates	38
2.6	Protein assay	38
2.6	Sodium dodecylsulphate and polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	39
2.7	Western analysis	39
2.8	Luciferase assays	40
2.9	Reverse transcription and polymerase-chain reaction (RT-PCR)	40
2.10	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR)	41
2.11	Immunoprecipitation	42
2.12	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Assay	42
2.13	Generation of CPD constructs	43
2.14	Statistical Analysis:	44
CH	APTER 3. RESULTS	45
3.1	CPD mRNA expression is upregulated by PRL, E2, and R1881 treatment	45
3.2	CPD protein levels are upregulated by PRL, E2, and R1881 treatment	45

3.4	CPD mRNA induction by PRL, E2 and R1881 does not require synthesis of new	40
	proteins	48
3.5	CPD expression is regulated by mRNA stability	48
3.6	The three CPD luciferase promoter constructs (0.7-, 2.0- and 7-kbp) are robustly active and the 2.0-kbp construct is stimulated by PRL and R1881	51
3.7	Deletion of two distal ARE-2 and ARE-3 from 2.0-kbp CPD promoter does not suppress PRL and R1881 stimulation of CPD promoter activity	56
3.8	PRL and R1881 failed to stimulate CPD promoter with mutated GAS	56
3.9	Sub-optimal doses of PRL in combination with R1881 stimulated $\Delta$ GAS promoter construct's activity	58
3.10	Stat5 gene knockdown abrogated the cooperative effect of PRL and R1881 on $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter activity	60
3.11	GAS and ARE-1 motif of CPD promoter are functional	60
CHA	APTER 4. DISCUSSION	65
4.1	Hormonal regulation of the CPD gene expression in breast cancer cells	65
4.1	.1 PRL, E2 and R1881 upregulate CPD gene expression in breast cancer cells	66
4.1	.2 PRL and R1881, but not E2, activate CPD gene transcription	67
4.1	.3 E2 promotes CPD mRNA stability in MCF-7 cells	68
4.2	PRL and R1881, not E2, stimulate CPD promoter activity	69
4.3	GAS mutation suppresses PRL and R1881 activation of the 2.0-kbp CPD	-
	gene promoter	70
4.4	Cooperative action of PRL and R1881 on CPD promoter activity	71
4.4	promoter activity.	72

BIBLIOGRAPHY	79
4.6 Future Studies	78
4.5 Conclusion	74
4.4.3 The CPD gene promoter GAS and ARE1 motifs are functional	73
$\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter activity	73
4.4.2 siStat5 inhibits the cooperative stimulation of PRL and androgen on	

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Schematic Representation of PRLR Isoforms	14
Figure 2. Schematic Representation of PRL-Jak2-Stat5 Pathway	17
Figure 3. Schematic Representation of AR Pathway	24
Figure 4. Domain Structure of CPD	29
Figure 5. Dose-Dependent Stimulation of CPD mRNA Levels	46
Figure 6. Hormonal Treatment Stimulates CPD Protein Levels in MCF-7 and T47D Cells	47
Figure 7. Actinomycin D Inhibits CPD mRNA Expression in MCF-7 Cells	49
Figure 8. CPD mRNA Induction by PRL, E2 and R1881 Does Not Require Synthesis of New Proteins	50
Figure 9. E2 increases CPD mRNA stability	52
Figure 10. The CPD Promoter Construct (7.0-kbp) has One Putative GAS and Several Putative Androgen Response Elements (Non-Consensus)	54
Figure 11. PRL, R1881 and FBS Stimulate 2.0-kbp CPD Promoter Construct	55
Figure 12. Mutation of GAS in the 2.0-Kbp CPD Promoter Suppresses the Stimulatory Effects of PRL and R1881 in MCF-7 Cells	57
Figure 13. Sub-Optimal Doses of PRL and R1881 Stimulate △GAS-CPD Promot Construct's Activity	er 59
Figure 14. Stat5 siRNA Inhibits PRL+R1881 Stimulation of ∆GAS-CPD Promoter Activity	61
Figure 15. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Analysis of the CPD Promoters	64
Figure 16. Functional Interaction of Stat5 with Liganded AR to Activate CPD Gene Transcription	77

#### ABSTRACT

Carboxypeptidase-D (CPD), bound to the plasma membrane, cleaves C-terminal arginine from extracellular substrates. Arginine is converted to nitric oxide (NO), which can promote tumour progression. We have previously reported that  $17\beta$ -estradiol (E2) and prolactin (PRL) upregulate CPD mRNA/protein levels to increase NO production for the survival of human breast cancer cells. Androgen also upregulates CPD expression to increase NO production and survival of prostate cancer cells. The human CPD gene promoter contains a consensus  $\gamma$ -interferon-activated sequence (GAS) and several putative androgen response elements (AREs) that could potentially bind PRL-activated transcription factor Stat5 and the ligand-bound androgen receptor (AR), respectively. This study investigated regulation of the CPD gene by E2, PRL, and synthetic androgen R1881, in human MCF-7 and T47D breast cancer cell lines. CPD mRNA and protein levels were elevated by E2, PRL, and R1881, in a time- and dose-dependent manner. Upregulation of CPD mRNA by PRL and R1881 was abolished by actinomycin-D, suggesting transcriptional regulation by these two hormones. E2 acts by increasing CPD mRNA stability. The 2.0-kbp CPD gene promoter construct, containing a consensus GAS and three putative AREs, was stimulated by PRL and R1881, but not E2. PRL- and R1881-stimulated CPD promoter activities were not affected by deletion of ARE-2 and ARE-3, suggesting that the GAS, and in particular, ARE1, are active hormone response elements. PRL-stimulated  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter activity was abolished by the mutation of GAS (AGAS-CPD, ARE-1 intact). Surprisingly, R1881 was unable to stimulate the same promoter. However,  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter activity was restored when PRL and R1881 were administered together, and further enhanced by ectopic transfection of Stat5, suggesting cooperativity between Stat5 and the AR. Furthermore, ChIP analysis confirmed that PRL-activated Stat5 and the liganded AR bound to GAS and ARE-1, respectively. In summary, PRL and R1881, acting through Stat5 and AR act in concert to stimulate CPD gene transcription and expression. E2 stabilizes the CPD mRNA to maintain CPD mRNA/protein levels. Taken together, our results implicate the cooperative action of the AR and PRL receptor signalling pathways in breast cancer.

## LIST OF ABBREVIATION AND SYMBOLS USED

APS	ammonium persulphate
AR	androgen receptor
ARE	androgen response element
BRCA1	breast cancer 1, early onset
BRCA2	breast cancer type 2 susceptibility protein
cGMP	cyclic GMP
ChIP	chromatin immunoprecipitation
СНО	Chinese hamster ovary
CIS	cytokine-inducible SH2-containing protein
СКВ	creatine kinase B
СР	carboxypeptidase
CPD	Carboxypeptidase-D
CPD-N	nuclear-targeted CPD isoform
CRH	cytokine receptor homology domain
CSSM	charcoal-stripped serum containing medium
DBD	DNA-binding domain
DHT	dihydrotestosterone
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DNase	deoxyribonuclease
dNTP	deoxynucleotide triphosphate
E2	17β-estradiol
ECD	extracellular domain
EDRF	endothelium-derived relaxing factor
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ER	estrogen receptor
ERE	estrogen response elements
FBS	fetal bovine serum
GAS	γ-interferon activated sequence
GH	growth hormone

GnRH	gonadotropin-releasing hormone
Her2/neu	epidermal growth factor receptor 2
hPRL/hPRLR	human prolactin/prolactin receptor
HSP	heat-shock protein
ICAM1	Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1
IgG	immunoglobulin G
JAK	Janus Kinase
LBD	ligand-binding domain
МАРК	MAP kinase
MEK	MAP kinase kinase
MNase	micrococcal nuclease
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
NCoR	Nuclear receptor co-repressor
NF-ĸB	nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of
	activated B cells
NLS	nuclear localization sequence
NO	nitric oxide
NOS	nitric oxide synthase
NTD	NH <sub>2</sub> -terminal domain
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PBP	PPAR binding protein
РІЗК	phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase
PMSF	phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride
PR	progesterone receptor
PRL	prolactin
PRLR	prolactin receptor
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain reaction
REA	repressor of ER activity
RNase	ribonuclease

RT	reverse transcription
SDS	sodium dodecylsulphate
SERM	selective estrogen receptor modulator
SH2	Src-homology 2
siRNA	small interfering RNA
SMRT	silencing mediator of retinoic acid
	and thyroid receptors
SOCS	suppressors of cytokine signalling
Sp1	Specificity protein 1
Stat	signal transducer and activator of transcription
TGN	trans-Golgi network
TEMED	tetramethylethylenediamine

## Weights and measures

°C	degree Celsius
μl	microliter
μΜ	micromolar
bp	basepair
cm	centimetre
g	acceleration of gravity
h	hour
kbp	kilo basepair
М	molar
min	minutes
ml	millilitre
mM	millimolar
n	number
ng	nanogram
nm	nanometre
nM	nanomolar

Р	probability
pМ	picomolar
U	unit of enzyme activity
V	volt

#### Acknowledgements

This research project would not have been possible without the support of many people. First and foremost, I offer my sincerest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Catherine Too, who has helped me throughout my Master's degree with her invaluable knowledge, guidance, and support and most importantly being very patient when research was not progressing fast enough. Her mentorship has hugely contributed to my academic and personnel development.

I would also like to thank the members of my supervisory committee, Dr. Stephen Bearne, Dr. Paola Marignani and Dr. Graham Dellaire for their expertise and valuable insights into the research project.

I am also thankful to Lynn Thomas and William McDonald for their cooperation throughout. Lynn has guided me with her expertise and assistance, without whom this project would have been impossible. I am thankful to Dr. Christopher Sinal and Dr. Paola Marignani for kindly providing their equipment for my study.

I would also like to express many thanks to my friends, including my fellow graduate students, for their encouragement over the past few years. Lastly, I offer my regards and blessings to all of those who supported me in any respect during the completion of my project.

I wish to express my deepest love and gratitude to my beloved parents for their understanding and endless love through the duration of my studies. Lastly, special thanks to Beatrice Hunter Cancer Research Institute for supporting me.

xiv

#### **CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Breast Cancer

#### **1.1.1 Statistics**

Breast cancer is the most common cancer among Canadian women, excluding non-melanoma skin cancer (Canadian Cancer Society, 2012). Breast cancer occurs in both men and women, but the prevalence is low in men. In the year 2012, it was estimated that 200 men and 22,700 women would suffer from breast cancer, and 55 men and 5100 women were projected to die from it. On a daily average, 62 Canadian women are diagnosed with this disease every day and 14 of them will die. One in 9 women is expected to develop breast cancer during her lifetime and one in 29 will die of the disease (Canadian Cancer Society, 2012). The number of global cancer deaths is projected to increase by 45% from 2007 to 2030 (from 7.9 million to 11.5 million deaths), influenced in part by an increasing and aging global population (World Health Organization, 2008).

#### 1.1.2 Risk factors

Although breast cancer is very common in North America, relatively few risk factors have been well established. Multiple lines of evidence suggest that genetic and reproductive factors are two of the better-established risk factors. Age, geographical location, obesity, lifestyle factors such as smoking, drinking alcohol and high fat diet, and hormone receptor status are some of the other established risk factors that are associated with breast cancer.

Being female and of older age are probably the two most well documented and non-modifiable risk factors for breast cancer (Reeder and Vogel, 2008). Women above

the age of 65 have 5.8 times greater risk of having breast cancer than women below the age of 65 (Singletary, 2003). For women under the age of 25, the incidence of breast cancer is very low, with only 10 out of 100,000 women being diagonised by the disease, whereas the risk for women above the age of 45 increases by 100 fold (Dumitrescu and Cotarla, 2005). Breast cancer incidence also varies with geographical location. For example, North America and North European countries have the highest incidence of breast cancer compared to the lowest levels in Eastern Europe, South Latin America and Asia (Parkin, *et al.*, 1999) (American Cancer Society, 2008).

Reproductive factors have been well associated with breast cancer risk as early as the 17<sup>th</sup> century (Mustacchi, 1961). Nulliparous women (women who have never given birth to a viable, or live, infant) have a 20-70% increased risk of breast cancer, compared to parous women (having given birth one or more times). It was also observed that women who are above 30 years of age when giving birth to their first child have higher risk of breast cancer than younger first-time mothers (Kelsey, *et al.*, 1993).

It is well established that the exposure to endogenous sex hormones has been associated with high breast cancer risk. For instance, a younger age of menarche means prolonged exposure of the breast epithelium to estrogens and progesterones, which increases the risk factor for breast cancer by 10-20% (Bernstein, 2002; Pathak, *et al.*, 2000). Similarly, women who are menopausal after the age of 55 have an increased risk of breast cancer, compared to women who reach menopause below the age of 45, which is also attributed to longer exposure to endogenous sex hormones (Singletary, 2003). Not surprisingly, the use of exogenous hormones after menopause also increases the risk of breast cancer, and is dependent upon the duration of exposure and whether estrogen was

used with progestins (Ross, *et al.*, 2000). Likewise, hormone replacement therapy and the use of oral contraceptives increase breast cancer risk (Colditz, *et al.*, 2000; Veronesi, *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, treatments with hormone replacement therapy have decreased in the US, which is often used to explain the corresponding 9% decrease in breast cancer incidence observed over the same period (Coombs, *et al.*, 2010).

Genetic predisposition has long been established as a critical risk factor for breast cancer. Inherited mutations, such as in BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes, lead to high-risk genotypes associated with up to 80% lifetime risk of developing breast cancer (Kenemans, *et al.*, 2004; Narod, *et al.*, 2006). Although, mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2 only account for approximately 5-10% of all breast cancers (Campeau, *et al.*, 2008), they account for 80-90% of familial breast cancers (de Jong, *et al.*, 2002).

#### 1.1.3 Therapies for Breast Cancer

The major treatment methods used to eliminate or reduce breast tumours are primary and adjuvant therapies. Local or primary therapy involves surgery, which includes mastectomy, when the whole breast is surgically removed, or lumpectomy, when a small amount of tumour tissue is removed. Radiation therapy is also a common primary therapy against breast cancer (National Cancer Institute, 2009).

The majority of patients with early stage breast cancer also receive adjuvant therapy to increase the chances of disease-free survival. Adjuvant therapies are generally systematic, that is, they are administered through the bloodstream to reach the cancer cells and kill them. Adjuvant therapies include endocrine therapy, chemotherapy, tissuetargeted therapies, or a combination of treatments (National Cancer Institute, 2009).

Tissue-targeted therapies usually target a specific molecule that is involved in apoptosis, cell cycle control, angiogenesis, cell invasion or metastasis of the tumour cell (National Cancer Institute, 2009).

Endocrine therapy (also called hormone/hormonal therapy) reduces or eliminates the growth of hormone-sensitive tumours by inhibiting the production of these hormones by the body or by interfering with hormone receptor action. Therefore, the use of endocrine therapy depends upon the hormone receptor status of cancer cells, and typically refers to the presence or absence of the estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), and epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (Her2/neu). The presence of the ER in breast cancer is associated with low-grade tumours whereas its absence has been correlated to aggressive tumours (Knight, *et al.*, 1977). ER-positive tumours are treated with anti-estrogens, tamoxifen and raloxifene (Fisher, *et al.*, 1998; Ross, *et al.*, 2000). The use of a <u>s</u>elective <u>e</u>strogen <u>receptor m</u>odulator (SERM) like tamoxifen, that blocks the action of the ER, is one of the most practiced endocrine therapies (Lewis and Jordan, 2005). PR-positive tumours are treated with anti-progesterone like mifepristone (Klijn, *et al.*, 2000). Her2-positive tumours are treated with monoclonal antibody trastuzumab (Herceptin) (Molina, *et al.*, 2001).

In addition to the inhibition of ER action, several other strategies have been developed to treat estrogen-sensitive breast cancers. These generally involve the inhibition of ovarian function in order to block estrogen production. Since, the ovaries are the main sources of estrogen, blocking ovarian function by surgically removing the ovaries (ovaries ablation) is one way of eliminating estrogen production. Secondly, ovarian function can be blocked by using drugs like gonadotropin-releasing hormone

(GnRH) agonist, which interferes with pituitary signals that stimulate the ovaries to produce estrogen (National Cancer Institute, 2012). Thirdly, aromatase inhibitors, like anastrozole and letrozole, are used to inhibit the enzyme aromatase, which converts androgens to estrogens in the ovary and other tissues (National Cancer Institute, 2012).

In contrast to hormone sensitive tumours, hormone-insensitive tumours (e.g., triple negative breast tumours) do not respond to endocrine therapy (National Cancer Institute, 2012). However, these triple negative breast tumours could express other hormone receptors like the prolactin receptor (PRLR) and androgen receptor (AR), each of which could play a role in the growth and progression of breast tumours. Traditional therapies are aimed at blocking the action of ER, PR and Her2/neu but, to date, the PRLR and AR have received little recognition in endocrine therapies (see section 1.3.4 and 1.4.3 for PRLR and AR role in breast cancer).

#### 1.2 Estrogen

The three major types of naturally occurring estrogen are estrone,  $17\beta$ -estradiol (E2), and estriol. Estradiol is the predominant estrogen during the reproductive years, both in terms of absolute serum levels as well as in terms of estrogenic activity (North American Menopause Society, 2007). As mentioned above, estrogens are primarily synthesized in the ovaries of females. They are released by the ovarian follicles, and are also secreted by the corpus luteum, under the stimulation of luteinizing hormone and follicle-stimulating hormone (Dowsett, *et al.*, 2005). Males synthesize estrogens in their testes. Like other steroid hormones, the major biosynthetic pathway for estrogen begins with cholesterol, which is converted to androgen in multiple steps. The enzyme aromatase catalyzes the last step, the aromatization of androgens into estrogens.

Therefore, androgens produced by both the adrenals and ovaries of females, or by the adrenals of males, become the primary sources of estrogen (Dowsett, *et al.*, 2005). Estrogen synthesis also occurs in normal breast tissues and breast carcinomas (Perel, *et al.*, 1981; Suzuki, *et al.*, 2003). The local estrogen synthesis might be of particular importance in relevance in carcinogenesis.

#### **1.2.1 Estrogen Receptors**

Jensen and Jacobson for the first time proved that the biological effect of estrogen is mediated by a receptor protein called the estrogen receptor (ER) (Jenson and Jacobson, 1962). The mechanism of action of the ER is similar to other members of the nuclear receptor superfamily.

Two genetically distinct forms of the receptor, ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ , which are encoded by two different genes, mediate ER signalling. Both forms are members of the nuclear receptor superfamily, and share a common structure in that they are composed of three independent, but interacting, functional domains. These domains are the <u>NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal</u> <u>domain (NTD), DNA-binding domain (DBD)</u>, and <u>ligand-binding domain (LBD)</u>. The two ER forms share a high degree of sequence homology (except in the NTD), possess similar affinities to the ligand, and recognize the same cis-acting elements called <u>e</u>strogen response <u>e</u>lements (EREs) to regulate target genes (Heldring, *et al.*, 2007). The domain that follows the DBD is the hinge region, which contains the nuclear localization sequence (NLS). After the binding of the ligand to the ER, conformational changes take place in the receptor leading to the unmasking of the NLS region. ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  have also been shown to form hetero dimers on EREs to regulate gene transcription of ERregulated genes (Cowley, *et al.*, 1997).

#### **1.2.2 Signal Transduction of the ER**

In the absence of ligand, the ER is inactive and sequestered in the nuclei. The ligand-bound ER undergoes conformational changes within the nucleus, undergoes homo/hetero-dimerization and exhibit high affinity binding to the specific EREs, and to regulate gene transcription through interaction with coregulators and recruitment of the transcriptional machinery (Smith, et al., 2004). The consensus sequence of the ERE has been determined to be 5'-GGTCAnnnTGACC-3' (Klein-Hitpass, et al., 1986). Gene promoters that contain this unique sequence and that are modulated by  $17\beta$ -estradiol, include that which encode ER, PR, TGFa, pS2, c-MYC, c-FOS, cathepsin-D (Jakowlew, et al., 1984; Kamalakaran, et al., 2005; Morisset, et al., 1986). Initiation of transcriptional activity requires interactions between transcription factor, co-activators and corepressors. The co-activators required for ER activity include SRC1/SRC2, p68, p300, <u>CREB binding protein (CBP)</u>, SWI/SNF, calmodulin and <u>PPAR binding protein (PBP)</u> (Klinge, 2000). The interactions of the ligand-bound ER with its co-activators trigger the transcription of ER-regulated genes. Similarly, interactions of the liganded ER with corepressors inhibit the transcription of ER-regulated genes. Some of the known corepressors of the ER include nuclear receptor co-repressor (NCoR), silencing mediator of retinoic acid and thyroid receptors (SMRT), and repressor of ER activity (REA) (Nilsson and Gustafsson, 2000).

The ER is a ligand-dependent transcription factor, which, upon the binding of ligand modulates the transcription of genes whose promoters contain the EREs. For many years, ER-ERE binding was thought to be the only mechanism by which ER can modulate target gene transcription. However, today it is known that the ER can modulate its target genes without binding to DNA. One example of such a non-genomic action of ER is the physical interaction between ER $\alpha$  and transcription factor Specificity protein 1 (Sp1), which directly activates ER-target genes (Batistuzzo de Medeiros Silvia R, 1997). Another example is the interaction between ER $\alpha$  and the c-rel subunit of the transcription factor NF- $\kappa$ B complex, which prevents NF- $\kappa$ B from binding to the interleukin-6 promoter, thereby suppressing the expression of this cytokine (Galien and Garcia, 1997).

Several ER target genes do not contain consensus EREs, but they contain EREhalf sites or GC-rich regions (Dubik and Shiu, 1992). The ligand-bound ER can also activate its target genes by binding to non-consensus ERE motifs. For example, E2 induction of cathepsin-D gene transactivation requires a GC rich region and ERE halfsites in the promoter. Similarly, the gene promoters of PR, c-MYC and creatine kinase B (CKB) each require an ERE half-site to mediate ER-activated gene transcription (Petz, *et al.*, 2004; Safe, 2001).

#### 1.2.3 Estrogen, Estrogen Receptor and Breast Cancer

During the last five decades, we have moved from the thought that postmenopausal estrogen has the potential of reducing breast cancer risk to the current scenario where a plethora of studies suggest a direct relationship between postmenopausal estrogen levels and breast cancer risk. Epidemiologic and experimental data implicate estrogen, in addition to other genetic factors (BRCA 1, BRCA 2, PTEN or LKB1 mutation), in breast cancer (Martin and Weber, 2000). For example, a study compared estradiol levels between healthy postmenopausal women and postmenopausal women with breast cancer. Higher levels of  $17\beta$ -estradiol or estrone were present in the women with breast cancer (Key and Pike, 1988).

Despite extensive study, the molecular mechanisms by which estrogen can influence breast cancer risk and development are not completely understood. The most widely accepted concept on the role of estrogen in breast cancer development is that estrogen, acting through ER $\alpha$ , has the ability to stimulate cell proliferation, and initiate mutations arising from errors in DNA replication (genetic errors). Estrogens stimulate the growth of cells that carry these mutations, which then increases the risk of breast cancer (Pike, et al., 1993; Preston-Martin, et al., 1990). A study by Clarke and his group showed that ERa levels increase markedly in breast carcinogenesis, but growth of these cells are inhibited by antiestrogens (Clarke, et al., 1993). The same group demonstrated that ER $\alpha$ levels in proliferating breast cancer cells are higher than in epithelial cells of the normal mammary gland (Clarke, *et al.*, 1997), further supporting the roles of estrogen and ER $\alpha$ in breast cancer development. The ER mediated crosstalk with other signalling pathways can also contribute to breast cancer cell survival. For example, insulin like growth factor-2 (IGF-2) activated insulin like growth factor 1-receptor (IGF-1R) promote the phosphorylation and translocation of ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  to the nucleus, plasma membrane and mitochondria leading to the activation of cell survival pathways. This pathway could be of particular importance in breast cancers that grow independent of estrogen (Richardson, et al., 2011).

Estradiol and its metabolites can also exert ER-independent DNA damage (Fernandez, et al., 2006; Kong, et al., 2000), contributing to the development of breast cancer. Wei Yue and his colleagues demonstrated that exogenous estradiol accelerated tumour formation in a dose-dependent fashion in ER $\alpha$  knockout mice. In contrast, the reduction of endogenous estrogen by aromatase inhibitor resulted in delayed tumourigenesis even in ER $\alpha$  knockout mice, suggesting ER-independent action of estrogen in the development of breast cancer (Yue, et al., 2010). The inhibition of estrogen action by tamoxifen or raloxifene reduces the breast cancer risk by 50-70% in high-risk women (Cummings, et al., 1999; Cuzick, 2001). Two other independent studies have demonstrated that inhibition of estrogen action by antiestrogens or inhibition of estrogen synthesis by aromatase inhibitors prevents the development of breast cancer during adjuvant therapy (Howell, et al., 2005; Thurlimann, et al., 2005). To date, blockade of ER action is the most common therapy for ER positive breast cancer. However, ER-independent effects of estrogen and estrogen-independent effects of ER can also influence breast cancer development in concert with estrogen activated ERdependent effects. All of these studies, when put together, provide strong evidence that estrogen plays a major etiologic role in the development of breast cancer.

#### **1.3 Prolactin**

Prolactin (PRL) is a polypeptide hormone synthesized and secreted by the anterior pituitary gland (Stricker and Greuter, 1928). Originally, this hormone was characterized by its ability to promote lactation and mammary gland development, hence the name prolactin (Freeman, *et al.*, 2000). However, we now know that PRL has over 300 diverse biological activities (Bole-Feysot, *et al.*, 1998) and cannot be defined by its name.

Furthermore, we are now aware that the synthesis and secretion of PRL is not confined to the anterior pituitary gland. Extrapituitary sites such as the mammary gland, prostate gland, brain, thymus, spleen, and immune cells express the PRLR, and thus, PRL may act as an autocrine/paracrine growth factor in these tissues (Ben-Jonathan, *et al.*, 1996; Bern and Nicoll, 1968; Freeman, *et al.*, 2000; Harris, *et al.*, 2004). Pituitary PRL acts via a classical endocrine pathway where it is transported by the circulation to peripheral tissues that express the PRLR on the cell plasma membrane. On the other hand, locally produced PRL can act on peripheral tissues (paracrine) or on the tissues producing it (autocrine).

The gene encoding human PRL (hPRL) is located on chromosome 6 (Owerbach, *et al.*, 1981). The hPRL gene is more than 15 kbp in length and is composed of 5 coding exons separated by 4 introns (Truong, *et al.*, 1984). An extra non-coding exon is present in the hPRL gene in extra-pituitary sites (Gellersen, *et al.*, 1989). The proteolytic processing of pro-hormone PRL produces the mature hPRL, comprised of 199 amino acids and with a total molecular mass of 23 kDa (Cooke, *et al.*, 1981).

#### 1.3.1 Pituitary and Extrapitutary Prolactin Gene Expression

The PRL gene promoter has been characterized in rat and human. In the rat PRL gene promoter, a distal promoter and a distal enhancer region have been identified. These two regions are highly conserved in rat and human (Peers, *et al.*, 1990). In the human PRL gene promoter, a superdistal enhancer region has also been identified but its function has yet to be determined (Van De Weerdt, *et al.*, 2000). In both rat and human, pituitary PRL expression is dependent upon transcription factor Pit-1. PRL gene

expression is also regulated by cytokines, steroids, as well as by other hormones such as insulin (Ben-Jonathan, *et al.*, 1996; Gourdji and Laverriere, 1994).

The cell-specific gene expression profile of the PRL gene in extra-pituitary sites has been reported in rats and humans. Unlike the pituitary hPRL gene promoter, the extra-pituitary promoter exhibits Pit-1-independent activity and responsiveness to different regulators of gene expression (Gellersen, *et al.*, 1994). For example, progesterone and insulin exert cell type-specific effects on extra-pituitary prolactin expression (Ben-Jonathan, *et al.*, 2008; Featherstone, *et al.*, 2012; Hugo, *et al.*, 2008).

#### 1.3.2 PRL Receptor

The PRL receptor (PRLR) was identified as a specific, high affinity, membraneanchored protein (Posner, *et al.*, 1975) that belongs to the class I cytokine receptor superfamily (Kelly, *et al.*, 1991). Other members of this family include receptors for growth hormone, granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor, several interleukins, erythropoietin, and the obesity factor leptin (Bazan, 1990; Bole-Feysot, *et al.*, 1998; Boutin, *et al.*, 1989; Cosman, 1993). PRLR and GH receptor are both single transmembrane chains and share structural and functional features, despite low degree sequence identity (~ 30%) (Goffin and Kelly, 1996; Kelly, *et al.*, 1991). Some cytokine receptors also share common structural motifs with the PRLR. Therefore, in addition to PRL, primate growth hormone and placental lactogens can bind to the hPRLR to activate signalling cascades specific to the receptor (Goffin, *et al.*, 1996).

The gene encoding the hPRLR is located in chromosome 5 and contains at least 10 exons spanning over 100 kbp in length (Arden, *et al.*, 1990; Boutin, *et al.*, 1989). The

PRLR is distributed widely in many tissues and cell types, and numerous isoforms have been identified in humans and rats tissues (Bole-Feysot, *et al.*, 1998). The multiple isoforms of the PRLR is the result of alternative splicing of the primary transcript. PRLR isoforms vary in length and cytoplasmic domain compositions, but the extracellular domains are identical. The various isoforms are referred to as short (291 aa), intermediate (393 aa) and long PRLR (591 aa), depending upon the length of the cytoplasmic tail (Bole-Feysot, *et al.*, 1998) (see Figure 1).

In mice, one long and three short PRLR isoforms has been cloned (Davis and Linzer, 1989). In addition to the membrane-anchored PRLR, soluble prolactin-binding isoforms were described in mammary epithelial cells (Berthon, *et al.*, 1987). The soluble PRLR isoform is a PRLR gene product, but whether they are the results of alternative splicing of the primary transcript or proteolytic cleavage of membrane-anchored PRLR (mature receptor) or both is uncertain (Amit, *et al.*, 1997; Fuh and Wells, 1995; Postel-Vinay, *et al.*, 1991).

In humans, six PRLR isoforms have been cloned. The long hPRLR isoform migrated in sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) at approximately 85 kDa (Bazan, 1990). The intermediate form lacks a 198 aa region that forms the cytoplasmic tail, due to alternative splicing, and migrates in SDS-PAGE at about 50 kDa (Ali, *et al.*, 1992; Kline, *et al.*, 1999). The intermediate form was first cloned in pre-T rat lymphoma Nb2 cell line, which is dependent on PRL for mitogenesis (Ali, *et al.*, 1992). The short isoform of the hPRLR also has a truncated cytoplasmic tail and is approximately 36 kDa (Kline and Clevenger, 2001).



**Figure 1. Schematic Representation of PRLR Isoforms** (adapted from Christine Bole-Feysot et al., 1998 with modifications). The extracellular domain of the receptor contains two type III fibronectin-like domains (D1 and D2) that are responsible for binding of ligand. The Box 1 and Box 2 motifs characterize the membrane proximal region of the cytoplasmic domain that is highly conserved in the cytokine receptor superfamily. Proline-rich Box 1 is required for Jak2 binding.

#### **1.3.3 Activation of Prolactin Receptor Signalling**

The PRLR contains three domains, which partition the receptor into an extracellular domain (ECD), a transmembrane domain and an intracellular domain. The ECD of PRLR is composed of ~200 amino acid region that has sequence similarity with other cytokine receptors and is referred to as cytokine receptor homology domain (CRH) (Finidori and Kelly, 1995). The CRH domain can be divided into two ~100 amino acid subdomains, namely NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal D1 and membrane-proximal D2. These conserved subdomains D1 and D2 demonstrate analogies with the fibronectin type III molecule, which is responsible for mediating receptor-ligand interactions (Wells and de Vos, 1996). The transmembrane domain of the PRLR is 24 amino acid long (Bole-Feysot, *et al.*, 1998). The intracellular domains are different in length and composition across different isoforms of PRLR, but they have two relatively conserved regions referred to as Box 1 and Box 2. Box 1, a proline-rich motif, is required for the consensus folding of the molecule recognized by the transducing molecules. Box 2 is less conserved and is missing in the short PRLR isoform (Goffin, *et al.*, 1998).

Ligand-mediated activation of the PRLR takes place when the ligand (PRL, placental lactogens or growth hormone) is bound to the receptor. The formation of an active receptor-ligand complex initiates receptor-associated intracellular signalling pathways. The binding of ligand triggers receptor dimerization, (Gertler, *et al.*, 1996), which in turn induces phosphorylation of Janus Kinase 2 (Jak2). Jak2 is found to be constitutively associated with PRLR (Campbell, *et al.*, 1994). Jak2s trans-phosphorylate each other, and are also involved in phosphorylation of tyrosine residues of the PRLR, namely Tyr309 and Tyr382. The phosphorylated tyrosine residues, serve as docking sites

for the <u>Src-homology 2</u> (SH2) domain of the Stat proteins (Signal transducer and activator of transcription), particularly Stat1, Stat3 and Stat5 (Bole-Feysot, *et al.*, 1998). The monomeric Stat proteins, recruited to the active receptor, are then phosphorylated by Jak2. The active Stats dissociate from the receptor, homo or heterodimerize through the interaction between a phosphorylated tyrosine of one Stat and the SH2 domain on another Stat. The dimerized Stat complex then translocates to the nucleus where it binds to a specific DNA motif called  $\gamma$ -interferon <u>activated sequence</u> (GAS) in the promoter region of target genes (Clevenger, *et al.*, 2003), such as cyclin D1(Brockman, *et al.*, 2002), interferon 1, and milk protein genes (such as  $\beta$ -casein and lactoglobulin) (Yu-Lee, *et al.*, 1990) (see Figure 2). Numerous gene promoters that contain the GAS motif, comprising a palindromic sequence TTCxxxGAA, are regulated by PRL (Ferrag, *et al.*, 1996).

All Stat proteins contain a DNA-binding domain, a SH3-like domain, a SH2 domain, an ubiquitous tyrosine and a C-terminal trans-activating domain (Finidori and Kelly, 1995). Among the three Stat proteins that are known to be activated by PRL, Stat5 is considered the most important transducer of the PRLR long and intermediate isoforms (Liu, *et al.*, 1995). Stat5 has two isoforms, Stat5a and Stat5b, which are encoded by different genes. These isoforms are 96% conserved at the protein level (Koptyra, *et al.*, 2011), with the major differences lying in the C-terminal domain. Both Stat5 isoforms possess the functionally essential tyrosine residue (Tyr-694) that is phosphorylated by Jak2 (Gouilleux, *et al.*, 1995). The finding that a PRLR mutant is unable to activate Jak2 and Stat5 is in consensus with the finding that Stat5 acts as the major transducer of signals from the PRLR (DaSilva, *et al.*, 1996; Pezet, *et al.*, 1997). The activation of Stat5 by Jak2 is inhibited by a SH2-containing family of proteins, referred as cytokine-



**Figure 2. Schematic Representation of PRL-Jak2-Stat5 pathway** (adapted from Ke Shuai & Bin Liu et al., 2003 with modifications). PRL, bound to the dimerized PRLR, activates Jak2 kinase which is associated with the PRLR. Jak2 auto-phosphorylates the receptor to create a docking site for transcription factor Stat5. Before its activation, Stat5 is found in the cytoplasm as a monomer. Stat5 is phosphorylated by receptor-associated Jak2 while docked at the receptor. Upon activation, Stat5 forms a homo/heterodimer (between Stat5a/Stat5a or Stat5a/Stat5b). Stat5 dimers then translocate to the nucleus where they bind to GAS ( $\gamma$ -activated sequence) elements in target genes. SOCS proteins, which are induced by cytokines, act as a negative feedback mechanism to shut off the Jak2 kinase activity.

<u>inducible SH2-containing protein (CIS) and suppressors of cytokine signalling (SOCS).</u> CIS and SOCS inhibit cytokine signalling by competing with Stat5 binding to the receptor (CIS) or by interacting with Jak kinases (SOCS) (Pezet, *et al.*, 1999).

Although the Jak-Stat pathway is the most important pathway involved in cytokine receptor signalling, other signal transducing pathways such as MAP Kinase (MAPK) is also activated following PRL stimulation. PRL activation of Raf1 serine/threonine kinase, MAPK, and MAP kinase kinase (MEK) has been reported in several cellular systems (Das and Vonderhaar, 1996; Piccoletti, *et al.*, 1994). The activation of Stat proteins can be modulated by other mediators, including MAPK, which can regulate the activity of Stat5 through serine phosphorylation (Decker and Kovarik, 2000; Yamashita, *et al.*, 1998). Although the Jak-Stat and MAPK pathways are considered independent, there are instances when these two pathways are interconnected to modulate transcription of PRL-responsive genes (Ihle, 1996).

#### 1.3.4 PRL and Breast Cancer

The role of PRL in the initiation and progression of rodent mammary carcinoma has been clearly established (Mershon, *et al.*, 1995). Wennbo and his colleagues demonstrated a direct correlation between increased PRL secretion and tumourigenesis in mice. Transgenic female mice that overexpressed the rat PRL gene spontaneously developed mammary carcinomas at 11 to 15 months of age, but the bovine growth hormone transgenic mice and control mice did not (Wennbo, *et al.*, 1997). In contrast, the role of PRL in human breast cancer has been historically controversial, and it has been difficult assigning a role for PRL in the etiology and progression of human breast cancer.

Bromocriptine treatment, to inhibit pituitary PRL synthesis and secretion, had no effect on human breast cancer. However, the lack of an effect can be attributed to the fact that bromocriptine does not inhibit extrapituitary PRL synthesis and secretion (Muthuswamy, 2012).

More than 90% of the normal human breast tissues and breast cancer biopsies are positive for PRL and its receptors. Almost 80% of the breast cancer cells in culture respond to the mitogenic signal of PRL under reduced serum conditions (Das and Vonderhaar, 1996). Several epidemiological studies have suggested a role for PRL in the progression of human breast cancer. In a large study conducted by Hankinson and her colleagues, blood samples were collected and archived from 32,826 nurses. In a 5-year follow up they identified 306 breast cancer cases and 448 controls, and had the women's PRL levels measured. The investigators found a statistically significant positive association between the plasma levels of PRL and the breast cancer risk. Women with higher plasma PRL levels had higher risk of breast cancer, relative to women with lower plasma levels (Hankinson, et al., 1999). In another study, 44% of patients with metastatic breast disease were found to be hyperprolactinemic (elevated serum prolactin) during the course of the disease (Holtkamp, et al., 1984). Increased levels of PRL were observed in postmenopausal women with increased breast tissue density (Wang, et al., 1995), suggesting an influence of PRL on breast epithelial and/or stromal proliferation.

*In vitro* studies of breast cancer tissues show a clear response to different levels of PRL. Biswas & Vonderhaar showed that PRL-stimulated growth of MCF-7 breast cancer cells is more evident in 1% charcoal-stripped serum than in 10% charcoal-stripped serum. Growth effects were seen at concentrations as low as 25 ng/ml hPRL and the maximal

effect was observed at 100-250 ng/ml (Biswas and Vonderhaar, 1987). There are evidences that physiological levels of hPRL stimulate the growth of mammary epithelial cells (Imagawa, *et al.*, 1985) and primary breast tumour biopsies in culture (Malarkey, *et al.*, 1983). The T47D and MCF-7 breast cancer cell lines respond to the PRL growth signal when cultured as solid tumours in nude mice. PRL-neutralizing antibodies and PRLR-specific antagonist ( $\Delta$ G129hR-hPRL) were shown to inhibit PRL-induced proliferation of several breast cancer cell lines, including MCF-7 and T47D (Fuh and Wells, 1995). In cell lines derived from MCF-7 cells that do not express PRL endogenously, exogenous PRL has been shown to mediate cell cycle progression by induction of cyclin D1, a critical cell cycle regulator (Schroeder, *et al.*, 2002).

Schroeder and his colleagues demonstrated that the administration of PRLR antagonist  $\Delta$ G129hR-hPRL induces apoptosis in T47D cells, suggesting a role for PRL in cell proliferation (Schroeder, *et al.*, 2002). PRL, acting via phosphatidyl<u>i</u>nositol-<u>3-k</u>inase (PI3K) dependent mechanisms stimulates cellular motility, an important factor in tumour cell progression (Maus, *et al.*, 1999). Another study showed that breast cancer cells responded to PRL-neutralising antibody with the induction of apoptosis, suggesting that endogenous PRL was crucial for cell survival. The same group also showed that PRL protects the cell from undergoing ceramide-induced apoptosis (Perks, *et al.*, 2004). Despite the accumulated evidence for the role of PRL in breast carcinogenesis, the PRLR is not a target for conventional endocrine therapy.

#### 1.4 Androgen

Androgens are male sex steroids that have many physiological functions, including development of the male accessory sex organs and male secondary sex

characteristics. Androgens are produced by the testes in males, the ovaries in females and by the adrenal gland in both sexes (Park, *et al.*, 2010). Testosterone is the principal circulating androgen secreted by testicular leydig cells following stimulation by luteinizing hormone. Another androgen is dihydrotestosterone (DHT), which is more potent than testosterone in its androgenic activity. DHT mainly functions in the virilization of the external genitalia in males, leading to the proper differentiation of the prostate, urethra, penis and scrotum. In addition, DHT plays a role in the development of secondary sexual characteristics such as muscle building and bone mass. The adrenal gland also secretes dihydroepiandrosterone and androstenedione, both of which function as weak androgens with only about 5-10 % potency, as compared to testosterone or DHT, and are precursors of androgens (Chawnshang, 2002). Androgens, mainly testosterone and DHT, exert most of their effects by interacting with a specific receptor, the androgen receptor (AR).

#### 1.4.1 Androgen Receptor

The AR is a member of the ligand-activated nuclear receptor superfamily. AR, in common with other members of this superfamily, functions as a ligand-induced transcription factor. The AR has two natural ligands, testosterone and DHT, both of which when bound to the AR, activate target gene expression at the transcriptional level (Gelmann, 2002).

AR is a modular protein, which is divided into four structurally and functionally distinct domains. It consists of an <u>NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal transactivation domain (NTD)</u>, a <u>DNA-binding domain (DBD)</u>, <u>ligand-binding domain (LBD)</u>, and a small hinge region, which

together mediate the genomic actions of testosterone in androgen target tissues. The structures of LBD and DBD are highly conserved across species, but NTD shows the greatest degree of variability, both in terms of sequence and length (Gelmann, 2002). The AR gene was localised in the X chromosome by genetic analysis of Androgen Insensitivity Syndrome in humans and mice (Brown, *et al.*, 1989). The single copy AR gene is composed of 8 exons and spans over 90 kbp of genomic DNA (Kuiper, *et al.*, 1989). Exon 1 codes for the NTD, exons 2 and 3 code for the central DBD, and exons 4 to 8 code for the C-terminal LBD. The AR locus consists of a CpG island that spans the proximal promoter region and exon 1. The promoter lacks a typical TATA or CAAT sequence but contains GC rich elements, which is common with TATA-less promoters (Gelmann, 2002).

The NTD of the AR represents about half the receptor coding sequence and is responsible for the majority of the receptor's transcriptional activity. The NTD of the AR also directly interacts with the general transcriptional machinery (Lee, *et al.*, 2000) and is the predominant site for the binding of co-activators (Alen, *et al.*, 1999). The cysteinerich DBD contains two zinc finger motifs and a short C-terminal extension that forms part of the hinge region. The first zinc finger recognizes and interacts with the specific androgen response elements (ARE) and facilitates the binding of the AR to the major groove of DNA. The second zinc finger interacts with the first zinc finger and stabilizes the AR-DNA complex by hydrophobic interactions (Schoenmakers, *et al.*, 1999). The second zinc finger can also mediate the dimerization between two AR monomers (Dahlman-Wright, *et al.*, 1993). A hinge domain, which links DBD and LBD, consists of
a bipartite NLS and sites for phosphorylation, acetylation and degradation (Li and Al-Azzawi, 2009).

## 1.4.2 Molecular Mechanisms of Androgen Action

Like many other steroid hormone receptors, the AR resides in the cytoplasm, and is bound to heat-shock protein (HSP90), which prevents its degradation. The binding of androgen to the AR induces a conformational change in the receptor that causes the heat shock protein to dissociate, which allows the translocation of the liganded-AR to the nucleus, where it could undergo phosphorylation, followed by interaction with DNA (see Figure 3). The nuclear targeting of the AR complex is directed by the nuclear localization sequence in the hinge region, the mutation of which prevents the translocation of the AR complex to the nucleus (Simental, et al., 1991). After binding of the ligand, the AR is phosphorylated at many sites, including S650 in the hinge region, which is required for full transcriptional activity of the AR (Zhou, et al., 1995). The dimerized AR then binds to the specific AREs of the target genes and recruits the essential cofactors to initiate the regulation of androgen-responsive genes (Claessens, et al., 2001; Glass and Rosenfeld, 2000). The consensus ARE is a 15-bp palindromic sequence that consists of two hexameric half sites (5'-AGAACA-3') arranged as inverted repeats with a 3-bp spacer in between (5'-GGTACAnnnTGTTCT-3'). However, in target genes, the binding site can deviate considerably from the consensus sequence. AR action is regulated by its coregulators, which can influence ligand selectivity and DNA-binding capacity of the AR (Glass and Rosenfeld, 2000). AR action can also be influenced by other transcription factors. The binding sites for steroid receptors are often found in clusters with the binding



**Figure 3. Schematic Representation of AR Pathway.** The androgen recpeptor (AR) found in the cytoplasm is bound to heat shock protein (HSP) which prevents AR degradation. Binding of androgen to AR causes a conformational change in the receptor, releasing HSP. Upon activation, the liganded receptors forms a dimer. The AR dimer translocates to the nucleus, binds to androgen response elements, and activates target genes.

sites of other transcription factors. Many of these transcription factors can synergistically interact with steroid receptors, thereby influencing AR regulation of target genes (Schule, *et al.*, 1988).

## 1.4.3 Androgen, AR and Breast Cancer Risk

Many hormones are known to play critical roles in mammary carcinogenesis, which strengthens the rationale for their study to develop new anti-cancer therapies for breast cancer. Since, breast cancer is more prevalent in females than male, the study is focussed towards their predominant hormone, estrogen. However, male steroid hormones also have physiologic importance in breast development, even though their role in breast cancer progression and development is less understood.

The expression of the AR is abundant in normal mammary epithelium and in the majority of breast cancer specimens and cell lines. A determination of steroid receptor status in various grades of mammary carcinoma *in situ* and invasive carcinoma showed that when tumour grade progresses from 1 to 3, AR expression decreases from 95% to 76% in ductal carcinoma *in situ*, and 88% to 47% in invasive carcinoma. In contrast, ER expression decreased dramatically from 100% to 8% in ductal carcinoma, and to 9.5% in invasive carcinoma. Therefore, despite a decrease in the % of AR during disease progression, the AR is still abundantly present in these tissues, making the AR a potentially valuable target for new therapies against breast cancer (Moinfar, *et al.*, 2003).

Several epidemiological studies have successfully found a correlation between circulating androgens and breast cancer pathogenesis. These studies have demonstrated the increased risk of breast cancer development in postmenopausal women with high

17β-estradiol and high testosterone levels (Cauley, *et al.*, 1999; Hankinson, *et al.*, 1998). Furthermore, the administration of androgens for the treatment of cystic breast disease has been shown to increase breast cancer risk (Veronesi and Pizzocaro, 1968). Similarly, postmenopausal women with high androgen levels are at an increased risk of breast cancer (Agoff, *et al.*, 2003). Preclinical studies conducted by Wong and his colleagues demonstrated that androgens, in addition to  $17\beta$ -estradiol, can induce breast tumourigenesis in young-adult female Noble rats, and the exposure to both hormones increases the incidence of breast carcinogenesis (Wong and Xie, 2001).

The proliferation of human breast cancer cell lines can be stimulated or inhibited by androgens *in vitro*, as it can be influenced by cell-specific differences, level of expression of cofactor and co-repressors, or structural alterations in the AR. Physiological and pharmacological concentrations of DHT stimulated the proliferation of the estrogen-responsive human breast cancer cell lines, MCF-7 and EFM-19. (Hackenberg and Schulz, 1996). However, the stimulatory effect of androgens was not limited to estrogen-responsive breast cancer cell lines. A synthetic androgen, mibolerone, was reported to induce proliferation of MDA-MB-453 cells, which is an ER- and PRnegative breast cancer cell line (Birrell, et al., 1998). In contrast, pharmacological concentrations of androgen inhibited growth of the T47D breast cancer cell line (Sutherland, et al., 1988). A large scale study reinforced the correlation between the expression of AR and the overall survival of breast cancer patients by demonstrating that patients with AR-negative tumours had a significantly lower response to hormone therapy and a shorter overall survival, compared to AR-positive tumours ( $P \le 0.001$ ) (Bryan, et al., 1984). Similar to the PRLR, there is accumulating evidence that the AR

plays a role in breast cancer etiology but has received little attention in endocrine-related therapies for this disease.

### **1.5 Carboxypeptidases**

Carboxypeptidases (CPs) hydrolyze one amino acid at a time from the C terminal regions of proteins and polypeptides through hydrolysis (Reznik and Fricker, 2001). The removal of one or a few amino acids from the C-terminus might not seem to have huge importance, but often it leads to significant alteration in the biological activity of the molecule (Skidgel, 1988). Based on the use of an active site serine, or zinc, the CPs can be grouped into 2 divisions: serine CPs and metallo-CPs. Serine CPs contain a catalytic group of amino acids (Ser, Asp, His) in the active site, which is characteristic of many serine proteases. CPs that use zinc in their cleavage mechanism are referred to as metallo-CPs (Skidgel and Erdos, 1998).

The metallo-CPs catalyze peptide hydrolysis by utilizing glutamic acid as a primary catalytic residue and a tightly bound zinc atom as the essential co-factor (Reznik and Fricker, 2001; Skidgel and Erdos, 1998). Many members of metallo-CPs (carboxypeptidases D, E, N and M) are enzymes and are thought to be involved in the processing of peptide precursors. Other members of the metallo-CP gene family, such as CPX-1, CPX-2 and ACLP, do not encode active enzymes (Reznik and Fricker, 2001). Based on their substrate specificity, metallo-CPs can be divided into CPA-type or CPBtype enzymes. The CPA-type enzymes preferentially hydrolyze C-terminal hydrophobic residues, whereas CPB-type enzymes only hydrolyze peptides that contain C-terminal basic residues, arginine (Arg) or lysine (Lys) (Skidgel and Erdos, 1998). The family of

serine-CPs includes lysosomal pro-X carboxypeptidase and deamidases, and metallo-CPs that belong to B-type include CPD, CPM and CPE.

## 1.5.1 Carboxypeptidase D

The human carboxypeptidase D (CPD) gene is ~ 88.3 kbp in length, comprising 21 exons and 20 introns (Timblin, *et al.*, 2002), and is located in chromosome 17 (Ishikawa, *et al.*, 1998; Riley, *et al.*, 1998). The CPD protein contains three tandem homologous carboxypeptidase (CP) domains, which are linked by short bridge regions, followed by a transmembrane domain, and a short 60-residue sequence that make up the cytosolic tail (see Figure 4) (Kuroki, *et al.*, 1995; Tan, *et al.*, 1997; Xin, *et al.*, 1997). The three CP domains (I, II and III) are believed to be the consequence of tandem duplications of an ancestral gene and all three domains are highly conserved across species (Kuroki, *et al.*, 1995). Domain I and II are active CPs with slightly different properties. Domain III is inactive as a result of mutation in many critical residues (Reznik and Fricker, 2001), but has retained some of the residues that are potentially involved in substrate binding (Aloy, *et al.*, 2001).

The 180-kDa membrane-bound CPD is a single-chain glycoprotein that cleaves C-terminal arginine from proteins and peptides (McGwire, *et al.*, 1997; Skidgel and Erdos, 1998; Song and Fricker, 1996). CPD has a broad distribution in mammalian tissues and organs, including the hippocampus, pituitary, ovaries, testes, spinal cord, pancreas, lung, kidney, cardiac atrium and gut (Song and Fricker, 1996; Xin, *et al.*, 1997). CPD is found in the *trans*-Golgi network (TGN) but significant amounts are also trafficked to the plasma membrane (Hadkar and Skidgel, 2001). CPD is also found in the nuclei of MCF-7 cells (O'Malley, *et al.*, 2005). In addition, a novel nuclear-targeted CPD



**Figure 4. Domain structure of CPD.** CPD is composed of three homologous extracellular carboxypeptidase domains (I, II and III), a transmembrane anchor, and a highly conserved cytoplasmic tail.

isoform (CPD-N) was identified in the rat PRL-dependent Nb2 and PRL-independent Nb2-Sp T-lymphoma cell lines (Too, *et al.*, 2001). CPD-N has a truncated N-terminus domain and thus, a lower molecular mass of 160 kDa (O'Malley, *et al.*, 2005). CPD-N is exclusively present in the nuclei of rat lymphoma and human hematopoietic tumour cells (Too, *et al.*, 2001).

The high concentration of CPD in the Golgi suggests its involvement in proteinand peptide- processing in the constitutive secretory pathway (Skidgel and Erdos, 1998). The plasma membrane localization of CPD suggests that it also functions as a cellsurface enzyme. Characterization of CPD as a functional cell-surface enzyme was pursued in studies using a mouse macrophage cell line. In macrophages stimulated with interferon- $\gamma$  and lipopolysaccharide, the addition of a CPD-specific extracellular substrate stimulated nitric oxide (NO) production by six fold as a result of the CPD-mediated release of Arg from the CPD substrate (Hadkar and Skidgel, 2001). Furthermore, CPD mRNA and protein levels were increased by interferon- $\gamma$  and lipopolysaccharide in macrophage cells, cultured in Arg-free medium (Hadkar and Skidgel, 2001). Arg, released by CPD, is the substrate of nitric oxide synthase (NOS). CPD induction of NO production, by cleaving C-terminal Arg from synthetic CPD substrates has also been reported in rat micro-vascular endothelial cells (Hadkar, *et al.*, 2004).

PRL stimulation of CPD mRNA expression in cancer cells was first observed in human HepG2 hepatoma and MCF-7 breast cancer cell lines (Too, *et al.*, 2001). PRL and the cytokine interleukin-2 also stimulated the expression of the nuclear CPD-N in rat lymphoma cells (Too, *et al.*, 2001). PRL has also been shown to stimulate NOS expression, which increased NO production, promoting cell survival and/or inhibition of

apoptosis in PRL-dependent rat lymphoma cells (Dodd, *et al.*, 2000) and in MCF-7 cells (Abdelmagid and Too, 2008). However, PRL stimulation of NO production was abrogated by small interfering RNA targeting CPD (siCPD), indicating that CPD, not NOS, was the major contributor of intracellular NO (Abdelmagid and Too, 2008). Similarly, PRL and testosterone upregulated CPD levels and increased NO production in several prostate cancer cell lines. The stimulation of CPD expression by PRL and testosterone suggests the presence of active Stat5a/b and AR binding sites in the CPD gene promoter (Thomas, *et al.*, 2012).

## 1.6 Nitric Oxide

Nitric oxide (NO) is a diatomic, highly reactive free radical molecule, and is a gas at room temperature. In mammalian cells, the three NOS isoforms, neuronal, endothelial, and inducible, catalyse the production of NO from L-Arg, and requires NADPH and oxygen as cofactors (Marletta, 1988). NOS isoforms are differentially regulated at transcriptional, translational and post-translational levels. The activities of nNOS and eNOS are highly dependent upon intracellular calcium concentration whereas calciumindependent iNOS forms an active complex with calmodulin (Alderton, *et al.*, 2001).

Over the past two decades, it has been clear that NO regulates a variety of important physiological and pathological processes. Originally, NO was identified as an endothelium-derived relaxing factor (EDRF) for its role in the cardiovascular system (Furchgott and Zawadzki, 1980; Ignarro, *et al.*, 1987; Palmer, *et al.*, 1987). NO can readily pass through membranes (Pance, 2006), and upon its release can exert its physiological effects by binding to a heme group within guanylate cyclase-coupled receptors, triggering receptor activity. Activated guanylate cyclase leads to the generation

of cyclic GMP (cGMP) from GTP. Many physiological processes that are known to be initiated or promoted by NO, including smooth-muscle relaxation and inhibition of platelet aggregation are mediated by the NO-cGMP signalling pathway (Friebe and Koesling, 2003). The cGMP-dependent protein kinases, cyclic-nucleotide-gated ion channels and cGMP-regulated phosphodiesterases mediate a variety of cellular effects. In addition to cGMP-dependent pathways, cGMP-independent regulation of many biological functions exists, including modification of proteins through direct chemical reactions. For example, S-nitrosylation of cysteine thiol residues by NO occurs independently of cGMP and it mediates several physiological functions (Stamler, *et al.*, 2001). For example, NO inhibits caspase 3 activity by S-nitrosylation of Cys163 residue thereby decreasing apoptosis of umbilical vein endothelial cells (Rossig, *et al.*, 1999).

## 1.6.1 NO, Cell Proliferation and Cancer

NO and its metabolites such as nitrate, nitrite, nitrosamines, peroxynitrite, and Snitrosothiols play a variety of roles in promoting cytotoxic and genotoxic effects, including DNA and protein damage, loss of protein function, apoptosis, necrosis, gene mutation and inhibition of mitochondrial respiration (Lala and Chakraborty, 2001; Wink, *et al.*, 1998; Wink, *et al.*, 1998). Therefore, NO may participate in causation and progression of cancers. In fact, a large number of studies have associated NO with cell survival, progression, angiogenesis, and invasiveness (Fukumura, *et al.*, 2006).

Continuous exposure to high levels of NO that are generated by iNOS are believed to promote neoplastic transformation, which is an important initial step in cancer. NO can cause DNA damage by the generation of dinitrogen trioxide ( $N_2O_3$ ) and

peroxynitrite (ONOO<sup>-</sup>). N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> nitrosates amines to form nitrosamines, and then alkylates DNA. Similarly, ONOO<sup>-</sup> can oxidise and nitrate DNA, and may induce single strand breaks by attacking the sugar phosphate backbone. NO metabolites may also inhibit DNA repair enzymes, such as DNA ligase (Lala and Chakraborty, 2001; Wink, *et al.*, 1998; Xu, *et al.*, 2002), resulting in the accumulation of DNA damage. S-nitrosylation of caspases can produce apoptosis-resistant cells, and facilitate the accumulation of mutations and subsequent clonal selection (Lala and Chakraborty, 2001). Many studies have indicated that NO produced by iNOS can initiate and/or promote tumourigenesis (Crowell, *et al.*, 2003; Hofseth, *et al.*, 2003). For instance, mice with mutations in the genes of both adenomatous polyposis coli (*Apc*) and iNOS showed fewer polyps in the small and large intestines, as compared to the mice with mutation only in *Apc* (Ahn and Ohshima, 2001). In some experimental models, induction of iNOS in tumour cells led to the increase in tumour growth whereas, antisense iNOS decreased tumour growth (Ambs, *et al.*, 1998; Jenkins, *et al.*, 1995; Yamaguchi, *et al.*, 2002).

NO may also play a favourable role by being pro-apoptotic, protecting cells from cytotoxicity or by inhibiting cell proliferation (Heller, *et al.*, 1999; Wink, *et al.*, 1996). A study by Dong and his colleagues showed that endogenous NO could reduce the metastatic potential of metastatic melanoma, since transfection of iNOS to melanoma cells resulted in a dramatic decrease in metastasis (Dong, *et al.*, 1994). In another instance, NO was shown to reduce metastasis by inhibiting the adhesion of tumour cell to the venular side of the microcirculation (Kong, *et al.*, 1996). Another report suggests that NO produced by the hepatic endothelium prevented the metastasis of lymphoma cells (Rocha, *et al.*, 1995). Similarly, NO produced in the vasculature of the brain limited the

spread of colon cancer to the brain (Murata, *et al.*, 1997). The same group also demonstrated that NO, secreted by microglial cells, may suppress the spread of cancer to the brain (Murata, *et al.*, 1997). All of these studies when put together suggest that NO can either promote or suppress the growth of tumour cells. The tumour promoting or inhibiting ability of NO depends on a variety of factors, such as NO concentration, cell type and the local microenvironment.

## 1.7 Rationale

The upregulation of CPD by PRL, E2 and/or R1881 in breast and prostate cancer cell lines increases NO production, decreases cell apoptosis and increases viability (Abdelmagid and Too, 2008; Thomas, *et al.*, 2012). It is possible that PRL and R1881 activate CPD gene transcription through Stat5 and the liganded-AR, respectively, with Stat5 binding to the GAS motif, and the AR to the ARE(s) found in the CPD gene promoter. The potential binding sites for PRL-activated Stat5 and liganded AR are in close proximity in the CPD gene promoter, suggesting the possibility that Stat5 and the AR could act cooperatively. An understanding of CPD gene transcription would give insight into the convergence of hormonal action and interaction that lead to cell survival.

## **1.8 Hypothesis**

In the presence of both PRL and R1881, the activated Stat5 and liganded AR bind to the putative GAS and ARE(s), respectively, in the CPD gene promoter. The two active transcription factors act cooperatively to enhance each other's binding to their DNA binding sites, to stimulate CPD gene transcription in breast cancer cells.

## 1.9 Objectives:

- To determine E2, PRL and androgen regulation of CPD gene expression using Western and qPCR analyses.
- To determine hormonal regulation of CPD promoter activity using luciferase reporter assays.
- iii) To identify active transcription factor binding sites in the CPD gene promoterby gene mutation and ChIP assays.
- iv) To investigate possible cooperativity between Stat5 and AR in the activation of CPD gene promoter.

## **CHAPTER 2. MATERIAL AND METHODS**

### 2.1 Antibodies

The concentrations and sources of primary antibodies used were: Custom-made, affinity-purified rabbit anti-CPD (1:500); rabbit anti-Stat5 (1:1000) and rabbit anti-pStat5 (1:1000) from Cell Signalling (Danvers, MA); mouse anti-androgen receptor (1:1000) from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc. (Santa Cruz, CA); rabbit anti-actin (1:5000) from Sigma-Aldrich Canada, Ltd. (Oakville, ON). The secondary antibodies used were goat anti-rabbit IgG horse radish peroxidase (HRP) conjugate and goat anti-mouse IgG HRP conjugate (Santa Cruz Biotech. Inc.).

## 2.2 Cell culture

Human MCF-7 and T47D breast cancer cell lines were cultured at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. MCF-7 cells were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM), pH 7.4, containing 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS), and supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine, 0.1 mM non-essential amino acids, 1 mM sodium pyruvate and 50 U/ml of streptomycin/penicillin. T47D cells were maintained in DMEM containing 10% FBS, and supplemented with 2 mM Lglutamine, 5 mM HEPES and 50 U/ml of streptomycin/penicillin. Cells were growtharrested in medium containing 1% charcoal-stripped serum (CSSM) for 48 h prior to treatment with various hormones and inhibitors.

### 2.3 Transfection of Plasmid

MCF-7 cells in growth medium containing 10% FBS were seeded at a density of  $4 \times 10^5$  cells per well in 6-well plates. After 24 h, the medium was removed. The cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), pH 7.4, and re-incubated in serumfree DMEM. Plasmids were prepared by incubating pGL3-CPD (500 ng) (gift from Dr. R. A Skidgel, University of Illinois), phRL-TK (5 ng; for normalizing transfection efficiency), with PLUS<sup>TM</sup> reagent (Invitrogen, Canada Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada) at room temperature for 15 min. In negative controls, pGL3-CPD was replaced by pGL3-Basic (500 ng). LipofectAMINE<sup>TM</sup> reagent in serum-free medium was mixed with the PLUS<sup>TM</sup> mixture, and incubated at room temperature for 15 min. The total transfection mixture was added to MCF-7 cells in serum-free DMEM. After 5 h, transfected cells were replaced with 1% CSSM to growth-arrest the cells. After 48 h in arresting medium, the quiescent cells were treated with PRL (10 ng/ml), 17 $\beta$ -estradiol (E2) (10 nM) or synthetic androgen R1881 (10 nM). Control cells were left untreated. Cells were harvested using Passive Lysis Buffer (Promega Corp., Madison, WI) following the manufacturer's instructions.

## 2.4 Transfection of Small Interfering Ribonucleic Acid (siRNA)

MCF-7 cells were seeded in a 6-well plate at 4 x  $10^5$  cells/well or 2 x  $10^6$  cells in a 10 cm dish. The cells were transfected with Silencer® Select pre-designed siRNA targeting human Stat5a (ID s13534) and non-targeting controls (siNT, Cat. # 4390843), both purchased from Ambion® (Life Technologies, Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada). A final concentration of 10 nM siRNA was used for transfections. Transfections were performed using Lipofectamine<sup>™</sup> 2000 (Life Technologies, Inc.) following manufacturer's instructions. Following transfection, the cells were growth arrested for 48 h at 37°C. Cells were then treated with hormones for 6 h or left untreated. Cell lysates prepared from cells with knocked down genes were used in luciferase reporter assays.

## 2.5 Preparation of total cell lysates

Cells were harvested in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1% IGEPAL/octylphenoxypolyethoxyethanol (Sigma-Aldrich), 1 mM phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride (PMSF), containing freshly prepared protease inhibitor cocktail P8340 (Sigma-Aldrich)). Cells were disrupted by passage through a 21-gauge needle and fresh PMSF (10  $\mu$ g/ml) was again added. Cell lysates were centrifuged at 13,000 × *g* for 20 min at 4°C to remove cell debris. The supernatant was collected (total cell lysate), and used for Western analysis or frozen at -20°C until further analysis.

### 2.6 Protein assay

Protein concentrations of total cell lysates were determined using the Bradford assay. Samples were prepared by diluting 50  $\mu$ l of the total cell lysate in 150  $\mu$ l of H<sub>2</sub>0. A standard curve was prepared using bovine serum albumin (BIO-RAD) of known concentrations (i.e, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l). Five millilitres of dye reagent concentrate (BIO-RAD) was added to 95  $\mu$ l of the standards and samples. Absorbance was measured at 595 nm using Eppendorf® Biophotometer.

#### 2.6 Sodium dodecylsulphate and polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

SDS-PAGE was performed using protein samples that were diluted with 50% volume of 3X SDS-PAGE loading buffer (188 mM Tris Chloride of pH-6.8, 3% SDS, 30% glycerol, 0.01% bromophenol blue, 15%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol). Protein samples (30-50 µg/lane) in loading buffer were incubated for 5 min at 95°C, and then loaded onto 7 or 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gels. The resolving gel components were: 0.375 M Tris-HCl, pH 8.8, 0.1% SDS, 0.05% ammonium persulfate (APS), and 0.05% tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED). Stacking gel (4%) components were: 0.125 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.8, 0.1% SDS, 0.05% APS, and 0.05% TEMED. Protein samples were resolved at 200 V in SDS-PAGE running buffer (0.02 M Tris-HCL, pH 8.3, 0.2 M glycine and 0.1% SDS).

#### 2.7 Western analysis

Following SDS-PAGE, resolved proteins were transferred onto Biotrace<sup>TM</sup> NT nitrocellulose membranes (Pall Life Sciences, Pensacola, Florida) in Western transfer buffer (25 mM Tris, pH 8.3, 192 mM glycine, and 20% methanol), at 100 V for 2 h at 4°C or 30 V overnight (O/N) at 4°C. Nitrocellulose membranes were blocked in 10% skim milk powder (w/v) in Tris-buffered saline-Tween 20 solution (TBST; 0.02 M Tris-HCl, pH 7.6, 0.2 M NaCl, 0.05% Tween 20) for 1 h at room temperature or O/N at 4°C. The nitrocellulose blots were then incubated with primary antibody prepared in 10% skim milk in 0.05% TBST for 2 h at room temperature or O/N at 4°C. The blots were washed 3 times with TBST for 15 min each time. The blots were then incubated with secondary antibody prepared in 10% skim milk in TBST for 1 h. The same washing cycle was

repeated. Immunoreactive signals were detected using BIO-RAD Immun-Star<sup>TM</sup> WesternC<sup>TM</sup> Kit by spreading 1:1 mixture of reagents (Peroxide: luminol solution) onto the blot for 5 min prior to detection by chemiluminescence.

#### 2.8 Luciferase assays

Reporter assays were performed using Dual Luciferase<sup>®</sup> Assay kit (Promega Corp., Madison, WI) and the activity of the promoter was analysed using Luminoskan Ascent Luminometer (Thermo Labsystems, Franklin, MA). Cell lysates (20 µl/well) were added to a 96-well plate. A volume of 100 µl each of LAR II and Stop & Glow<sup>®</sup> Reagent was added to each well. The luminescence intensity of firefly luciferase normalized to that of Renilla luciferase was measured on Luminoskan Ascent. All experiments were carried out in duplicate wells and repeated three times. The following formula was used to calculate relative CPD promoter activity; Relative CPD promoter activity= Luminescence intensity of test/ Luminescence intensity of controls.

## 2.9 Reverse transcription and polymerase-chain reaction (RT-PCR)

RNA was isolated from MCF-7 cells using GenElute Mammalian Total RNA miniprep kit following the manufacturer's instructions (Sigma-Aldrich). Total RNA (1 $\mu$ g) was incubated with 1  $\mu$ l of DNase1 and 1  $\mu$ l of 10X reaction buffer (Fermentas, Burlington, Ontario) in a total volume of 10  $\mu$ l for 30 min at 37°C. Then, 1  $\mu$ l of 0.5 M ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA, pH 8.0) was added to stop the DNase reaction, and incubated at 70°C for 10 min. RT of RNA (10  $\mu$ l) was performed in a 25  $\mu$ l reaction mixture containing M-MuLV reverse transcriptase (100 U; Promega), 40 pM of random hexamer pd(N)6, 200  $\mu$ M of deoxynucleotide triphosphates (dNTPs), and 1.6 U RNase inhibitor. A 3-µl aliquot of RT reaction was used for PCR containing 12.5 µl of GoTaqTM Green Master Mix (Promega Corp., Madison, WI), 0.5 µl of forward and reverse primers in a total volume of 25 µl. The following primer sets were used: human CPD, 5'-ATG-GCA-GGG-GTA-TAT-TAA-ATG-CAA-3' and 5'-GGA-TAC-CAG-CAA-CAA-AAC-GAA-TCT-3' (576 bp); human actin, 5'-AAA-CTG-GAA-CGG-TGA-AGG-TG-3' and 5'-AGA-GAA-GTG-GGG-TGG-CTT-TT-3' (172 bp); human Stat5a, 5'-ACA-TTT-GAG-GAG-CTG-CGA-CT-3' AND 5'-CCT-CCA-GAG-ACA-CCT-GCT-TC-3'.

## 2.10 Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR)

Preparation and RT of total RNA, isolated from quiescent cells treated with various doses of PRL or R1881, was performed as for RT-PCR described above. A 3-µl aliquot of RT reaction was combined with GoTaq qPCR master mix (Promega) or Brilliant II SYBR Green qPCR Master Mix, diluted ROX reference dye (Agilent Technologies Canada Inc., Mississauga, ON, Canada) and primers, according to the manufacturer's instruction. The following sets of primers were used: hCPD, 5'-AAC-ACC-GAC-GTG-TAC-CT-3' and 5'-GTG-CTA-AAC-TGG-TCG-GGA-AA-3' (164-bp product). The primers for human actin were the same as described for RT-PCR. Reaction mixes were amplified through 40 cycles in a Stratagene MX3000P thermal cycler. Target gene expression was normalized to actin levels in respective samples as an internal standard and was determined using the comparative cycle threshold (Ct) method. Briefly,  $\Delta$ CT was calculated for each treatment group by subtracting the Ct for actin from the Ct for CPD. The  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct for each group was calculated by subtracting the  $\Delta$ Ct for the calibrator (0 timepoint) from the  $\Delta$ Ct for the sample. Therefore,  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct = (Ct<sub>CPD</sub> –

 $Ct_{actin}$ <sub>sample</sub> –  $(Ct_{CPD} - Ct_{actin})_0$  timepoint. The normalized expression in each sample equals  $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ . This value was used to compare the expression levels.

## 2.11 Immunoprecipitation

For immunoprecipitation of Stat5 and AR, total cell lysates were centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C. The supernatant was then precleared with IgG and A/G PLUS agarose (Santa Cruz), and recollected at 300 rpm for 5 min. Precleared lysates were then incubated with 1  $\mu$ g of Stat5 and AR antibodies for 1 h, and then with 40  $\mu$ l of A/G agarose at 4°C. Agarose beads were washed three times with PBS and then centrifuged at 3000 x g for 5 min at 4°C. The washed beads were suspended in 3X sample buffer and used in Western analyses.

## 2.12 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Assay

MCF-7 cells were seeded at 2 x  $10^6$  cells in a 10 cm dish. The cells were grown in regular growth medium (for analyses of RNA Pol II and IgG) or serum starved and then treated with 10 nM PRL or 10 nM R1881 (for analyses of Stat5 and AR, respectively). Cells were trypsinized, washed with PBS and crosslinked with 37% formaldehyde (final concentration of 1%). Reactions were terminated by adding 1 ml of 0.125 M glycine and subjected to centrifugation for 5 min at 180 x g. Pelleted cells were then washed three times with ice-cold PBS. Cell nuclei were prepared by resuspending the pellet in nuclei preparation buffer containing 0.3 M sucrose, 60 mM KCl, 15 mM NaCl, 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.1 mM ethylene glycol-bis *N*,*N*,*N'*,*N'*-tetra-acetic acid (EGTA), 15 mM Tris-Cl pH 7.5 and protease inhibitor cocktail (PIC, Sigma Aldrich). Cell suspensions were incubated on ice for 15 min, vortexed vigorously for 10 sec and then

centrifuged at 180 x g for 5 min. The nuclear pellet was resuspended in micrococcal nuclease (MNase) digestion buffer and incubated for 8 mins at 37°C. MNase (New England Biolabs<sup>®</sup> Ltd. Whitby, ON, Canada) was added to the nuclear suspension at a final concentration of 2 U/ml for 20 mins at 37°C to obtain the DNA fragments of 100-400 bp. MNase reactions were terminated by adding 100 ul of 0.5 M EDTA to the digested DNA. Cell debris was pelleted by centrifuging at 14,000 rpm for 15 mins at 4°C. The clarified supernatant was then used for immunoprecipitation with anti-Stat5, anti-AR, anti-RNA Pol II or IgG, crosslink reversal, and purification of DNA following manufacturer's instructions (Imprint<sup>®</sup> Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Kit, Sigma Aldrich). Specific primer pairs were used to amplify the promoter region GAS and ARE-1 of CPD gene promoter. The primers used for GAS region amplification were 5'-TGT-GCT-CCC-TGA-AGA-CTG-GC-3' and 5'-CCA-TGG-AGG-ATG-GGA-AGG-A-3' or 5' -TGG-CCT-TCC-AGA-TCA-AAT-GT-3' and 5'- GGT-GAG-GGA-AAT-ATC-TGA-A-3' for ARE-1 region or 5'-TAG-ACT-AGA-TCA-AAT-GGG-GC-3' and 5'-ATC-TGG-AGA-CAA-AGA-GGA-TTG-3' for ARE-2 region. The primers of a non-related gene, GAPDH, were used as a negative control.

## 2.13 Generation of CPD constructs

A 2.0-kbp CPD promoter construct, a kind gift from Dr. R.A. Skidgel, was used as a template to mutate or delete putative GAS and AREs. Mutagenesis was performed using the Phusion Site Directed Mutagenesis Kit (New England Biolabs<sup>®</sup> Ltd. Whitby, ON, Canada). PCR was performed using Phusion polymerase and phosphorylated primers. Following the reaction, digestion was performed with DpnI to chew up the 2.kbp CPD template. The DpnI digested PCR product was transformed into chemically

competent DH5 $\alpha$  cells (Escherichia Coli). The following mutants were generated, and their sequence was verified by DNA sequencing (Genewiz Inc., South Plainfield, NJ):  $\Delta$ ARE2,3-CPD (deletion of two putative AREs),  $\Delta$ ARE2,3,GAS-CPD (deletion of GAS in addition to two putative AREs), and  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD (substitution mutation of putative GAS element). The primers used in the mutagenesis were;  $\Delta$ ARE2,3-CPD, 5'-AGT-CTT-AGG-CCT-CCC-ATT-CAA-TTT-TCC-3' and 5'-AGA-GAG-ACC-GCC-CAC-CAC-CT-3';  $\Delta$ ARE2,3,GAS-CPD, 5'-CAA-GGC-ATT-TGT-TCT-CAA-ATC-CTG-C-3' and 5'-AGA-GAG-ACC-GCC-CAC-CAC-CT-3';  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD, 5' –CAA-GGC-ATT-TGT-TCT-CAA-ATC-CTG-C-3' and 5'-TGT-TTT-TTT-TGC-ATG-CAG-GGT-C-3''.

## 2.14 Statistical Analysis:

Statistical analyses were performed using Graphpad prism, and the results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM (n  $\geq$ 3) unless otherwise stated in the figure legends. ANOVA was followed by Benferroni's multiple comparison tests, for comparing mean value. A *P* value of  $\leq$  0.05 was considered significant.

#### **CHAPTER 3. RESULTS**

### 3.1 CPD mRNA expression is upregulated by PRL, E2, and R1881 treatment

We have previously reported that the treatment of quiescent MCF-7 cells with PRL and 17-β-estradiol (E2) stimulated CPD mRNA production (Abdelmagid and Too, 2008). My study focussed on the regulation of CPD gene expression and transcription by PRL, E2, and R1881 (synthetic non-aromatizable androgen). In the first instance, timeand dose- dependent studies were performed. MCF-7 cells were growth arrested in 1% CSSM for 48 h prior to hormonal treatment. E2 (10 nM) and PRL (10 ng/ml) stimulated CPD mRNA levels by greater than 4 fold (Figure 5A, B). Similarly, R1881 (10 nM) upregulated CPD mRNA levels by up to 6 fold at 6 h of treatment (Figure 5C).

#### 3.2 CPD protein levels is upregulated by PRL, E2, and R1881 treatment

The effects of E2, PRL, and R1881 on CPD protein levels were next determined, using Western analysis. The treatment of quiescent MCF-7 and T47D cells with E2 and PRL stimulated CPD protein levels at 6 h (Figure 6A, B). The present study also showed that R1881 upregulated CPD protein levels in a time- dependent manner (Figure 6C).

### 3.3 Stimulation of CPD mRNA by PRL and R1881 was supressed by actinomycin D

Treatment of MCF-7 cells with PRL, E2 or R1881 increased CPD levels in a time- and dose-dependent manner (Figure 5 and 6). To determine the mechanism by which CPD mRNA expression was regulated by these hormones, MCF-7 cells were pretreated with or without actinomycin D (2.5  $\mu$ g/ml) for 30 min before treatment with hormones for 6 h. In the presence of actinomycin D, PRL- and R1881-upregulated CPD







**Figure 5. Dose-dependent stimulation of CPD mRNA levels**. MCF-7 cells were arrested in 1% charcoal-stripped serum containing medium (CSSM) for 48 h prior to treatment with increasing doses of A) E2, B) PRL, or C) R1881 for 6 h. Total RNA was extracted for qPCR analysis. The CPD/ $\beta$ -actin ratio was determined by the 2- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method, which showed  $\geq$  4-fold induction with 10 ng/ml PRL, 10 nM E2 or 10 nM R1881. Mean ± SEM, n=3.





Figure 6. Hormonal treatment stimulates CPD protein levels in MCF-7 and T47D cells. MCF-7 and T47D cells were made quiescent in 1% CSSM for 48 h prior to the treatment with A) E2 (10 nM), B) PRL (10 ng/ml), or R1881 (10 nM) for 6 h. Total cell lysates were prepared for SDS-PAGE and Western analysis as described in Materials and Methods. For SDS-PAGE, 20-40  $\mu$ g of protein was loaded in each lane. The 180-kD immunoreactive CPD band was detected by chemiluminescence.  $\beta$ -actin was used as a loading control. Representative of three independent experiments.

mRNA levels were markedly reduced as compared to the cells without actinomycin D (Figure 7), suggesting transcriptional regulation by these two hormones. Surprisingly, actinomycin D did not abolish E2-stimulated CPD mRNA levels, suggesting that E2 upregulation of CPD mRNA was not regulated at the transcriptional level. Actinomycin D treatment alone did not change the viability of MCF-7 cells.

## 3.4 CPD mRNA induction by PRL, E2 and R1881 does not require synthesis of new proteins

To determine whether the induction of CPD mRNA levels requires *de novo* protein synthesis, I evaluated the effect of a protein synthesis inhibitor, cycloheximide on CPD mRNA expression in MCF-7 cells challenged with hormone. MCF-7 cells were made quiescent for 48 h, and then treated with PRL or E2 or R1881 for 6 h, with or without cycloheximide (25  $\mu$ g/ml). QPCR analysis showed that cycloheximide had no effect on the hormonal upregulation of CPD mRNA levels (Figure 8). This suggests that hormonal upregulation of the CPD mRNA was independent of *de novo* protein synthesis. However, this does not exclude factors that modulate gene transcription or contribute to the stability of the transcript.

#### 3.5 CPD expression is regulated by mRNA stability

CPD mRNA levels is upregulated by E2 in MCF-7 cells (Figure 5B). However, unlike PRL and R1881, the upregulation of CPD mRNA levels by E2 was not abolished by transcriptional inhibitor actinomycin D (Figure 7), suggesting that the E2 did not affect gene transcription. Therefore, I investigated whether E2 induction of CPD mRNA



Figure 7. Effects of actinomycin D in CPD mRNA expression. MCF-7 cells were growth arrested in 1% CSSM for 48 h. The cells were treated with or without Act D (2.5  $\mu$ g/ml) for 30 min, followed by PRL (10 ng/ml), E2 (10 nM) or R1881 (10 nM) for 6 h. Controls (Con) were not treated with hormones. Total RNA was extracted for qPCR analysis. The relative CPD mRNA levels were calculated using  $\beta$ -actin as a reference and the control mRNA levels were expressed as 1. Mean ± SEM, n=3-4.\*\*p<0.001.



Figure 8. CPD mRNA induction by PRL, E2 and R1881 does not require synthesis of new proteins. MCF-7 cells were growth arrested in 1% CSSM for 48 h prior to the treatment with or without CHX (10  $\mu$ g/ml) for 30 min, followed by E2 (10 nM), PRL (10 ng/ml), or R1881 (10 nM) for another 6 h. Controls (Con) were not treated with hormones. Total RNA was isolated after 6 h of treatment. For RT-qPCR analyses, the relative mRNA levels were calculated using  $\beta$ -actin as an internal standard. Control mRNA levels were expressed as 1. Mean ± SEM, n=3-4.

expression was through other mechanisms, such as stabilization of the transcript. Therefore, MCF-7 cells were growth arrested for 48 h and total mRNA was collected from a set of cells before any treatment (time zero). Another set of cells were then either treated with E2 (10 nM) or actinomycin D alone, or pre-treated with actinomycin D for 30 min before incubating the cells with E2 for 8 h. Total RNA was collected at different times and processed for RT-qPCR analysis. In the cells treated with actinomycin D alone, CPD mRNA degradation was rapid (Figure 9), indicating that the CPD transcript had a short half-life. However, in cells treated with E2 + actinomycin D, or with E2 alone, CPD mRNA levels were maintained higher and for a much longer duration, suggesting that E2 increased the stability of CPD mRNA. Statistical analysis showed that the E2 alone or E2+actinomycin D profile were not significantly different from each other, but each was significantly higher than the actinomycin D treatment alone at 4 h (P < 0.01, n=3 for E2 + actinomycin D versus actinomycin D; P<0.001, n=3 for E2 versus actinomycin D) and 8 h (P< 0.001, n=3 for both E2 + actinomycin D versus actinomycin D and E2 versus actinomycin D). These results support the idea that E2 increases the stability of the CPD mRNA, thereby increasing its half-life in MCF-7 cells.

## 3.6 The three CPD luciferase promoter constructs (0.7-, 2.0- and 7-kbp) are robustly active and the 2.0-kbp construct is stimulated by PRL and R1881

CPD gene promoter activity was next studied to unravel the pathways involved in the stimulation of the CPD gene. We have three CPD promoter constructs of different sizes, that is, 0.7-, 2.0- and 7-kbp upstream from the start site. We have identified one consensus  $\gamma$ -interferon activating sequences (GAS) and four putative AREs in the 7.0-



Figure 9. E2 increases CPD mRNA stability. MCF-7 Cells were growth arrested with 1% CSSM for 48 h. The cells were treated with actinomycin D (Act. D) (2.5 ug/ml) alone or pretreated with Act. D or vehicle (ethanol) for 30 min prior to the addition of E2 (10 nM) as shown in the figure. Total RNA was isolated at the indicated times. The relative mRNA levels were calculated using  $\beta$ -actin as a reference. The relative amounts of CPD mRNA at time zero was expressed as 1. Mean ± SEM, n=3. \*P<0.01 \*\*P<0.001 when compared to Act D treatment.

kbp construct (Figure 10). The 2.0-kbp-promoter construct contains the GAS and three of the four AREs, whereas the 0.7-kbp promoter construct does not have any of them (Figure 10). MCF-7 cells were transfected with each of these luciferase CPD-promoter constructs (0.7-, 2.0- and 7.0-kbp). After 5 h of transfection, the cells were cultured in regular growth medium for 48 h before performing luciferase reporter assays. All the promoter constructs were robustly active as compared to the empty vector, pGL3-Basic. This is in agreement with a previous report characterizing these promoter constructs in HEPG2 and Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells (Timblin, *et al.*, 2002) (Figure 11A).

To determine whether the hormones stimulate the CPD promoter constructs, each of the promoter constructs was transfected into MCF-7 cells. The cells were serum starved for 48 h and then treated with PRL, E2 or R1881 for 6 h. The 0.7-kbp CPD promoter construct did not respond to the hormones, possibly due to the absence of hormone response elements, namely ARE, GAS and ERE (Figure 11B). The activity of 2.0-kbp CPD promoter construct was increased by treatment with PRL or R1881 at 6 h, suggesting that PRL-activated Stat5 and the liganded androgen receptor might bind to the GAS and ARE/AREs, respectively. However, unlike PRL and R1881, E2 failed to stimulate CPD promoter (2.0-kbp) activity (Figure 11B), and this is consistent with the fact that E2 upregulation of CPD mRNA levels was not dependent on modulating CPD gene transcription. Surprisingly, the 7.0-kbp CPD promoter construct, which has all the response elements contained in the 2.0-kbp construct, failed to respond to treatment with PRL, E2 or R1881 (Figure 11B). This observation could be due to fact that, when large promoter constructs are cloned into a vector, they lack the appropriate *in vivo* microenvironment for gene transcription. Taking these results together, I concluded



Figure 10. The CPD promoter construct (7.0-kbp) contains one putative GAS and several putative androgen response elements (non-consensus). Transcription start site ATG is indicated as +1. Binding sites for Sp1 and NF-kB protein are present ~300 bp upstream of the start site. Our identified 5'-position of the putative androgen response elements (AREs) (1-3) and  $\gamma$ -interferon activated sequence (GAS) in the CPD promoter are indicated. Active but non-consensus AREs present in probasin and prostate specific antigen (PSA) promoter are also shown. Non consensus nucleotides are shown in bold letters.





A.

that the GAS and at least one of the AREs in the 2.0-kbp CPD promoter construct were active.

## 3.7 Deletion of two distal ARE-2 and ARE-3 from 2.0-kbp CPD promoter does not supress PRL and R1881 stimulation of CPD promoter activity

Several new promoter constructs were generated from the 2.0-kbp construct by deletion or substitution mutations. The  $\triangle$ ARE2,3-CPD was generated by the deletion of ARE-2 and ARE-3. The  $\triangle$ ARE2,3-GAS-CPD was generated by the deletion of GAS from the  $\triangle$ ARE2,3-CPD. The  $\triangle$ GAS-CPD was generated by mutating GAS from the 2.0-kbp construct. All of the newly generated promoter constructs were robustly active in MCF-7 cells as determined by luciferase reporter assay (Figure 12A).

PRL and R1881 stimulated  $\triangle$ ARE2,3-CPD promoter activity despite the deletion of two distal AREs, and the mutated construct responded in a magnitude similar to that of the full length 2.0-kbp CPD promoter (Figure 12B). These findings suggest that ARE-2 and ARE-3 (at -1443) were not involved in PRL or R1881 stimulation of CPD gene transcription.

### 3.8 PRL and R1881 failed to stimulate CPD promoter with mutated GAS

Since the stimulation of 2.0-kbp-promoter construct was not affected by the deletion of ARE 2 and ARE 3, we mutated the GAS to confirm that PRL stimulation of CPD involved this particular motif. As indicated, the two new promoter constructs  $\Delta$ ARE2,3-GAS-CPD and  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD were active (Figure 12A). As expected, PRL failed to stimulate the two promoter constructs that did not contain GAS ( $\Delta$ ARE2,3-GAS-CPD and  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD and  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD were active (Figure 12A).



Figure 12. Mutation of GAS in the 2.0-kbp CPD promoter supresses the stimulatory effects of PRL and R1881. MCF-7 cells were transfected with empty vector PGL3-Basic or CPD promoter-luciferase constructs (2.0-kbp,  $\Delta$ ARE2-3,  $\Delta$ ARE2,3-GAS,  $\Delta$ GAS), and phRL-TK. After transfection, A, the cells were cultured in complete growth medium containing 10% FBS for 48 h. B, the cells were growth arrested for 48 h and were then treated with PRL (10 ng/ml) or R1881 (10 nM) for 6 h. Controls were left untreated. Cell lysates were used to measure luciferase reporter activity. Relative luciferase activity is presented as fold induction above baseline control which was arbitrarily set at 1. Three independent experiments were performed each in duplicate. Mean  $\pm$  SEM, n=3-5.\* P<0.05.

particular GAS to activate gene transcription (Figure 12B). Surprisingly, although the R1881-bound AR does not bind to GAS, treatment with R1881 did not stimulate the  $\Delta$ ARE2,3-GAS and  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoters (Figure 12B). There is a possibility that the close proximity of the GAS and ARE-1 could allow cooperation between AR and Stat5 to stimulate CPD promoter activity. Therefore, experiments were conducted to determine whether the treatment with PRL + R1881 together would be necessary to stimulate  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter.

# 3.9 Sub-optimal doses of PRL in combination with R1881 stimulated $\Delta GAS$ promoter construct's activity

MCF-7 cells were treated with suboptimal doses of PRL (0.1 nM) or R1881 (0.1 nM). Alone, neither hormone stimulated the activity of the  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD and the 2.0-kbp CPD construct (Figure 13B). However, when suboptimal doses of PRL and R1881 were given in combination, there was stimulation of the  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter constructs, although not to the level of the intact 2.0-kbp construct (Figure 13B).

To determine whether alterations in Stat5 levels would overcome the deletion of GAS, Stat5 was transfected into the cells. Stat5 transfected cells expressed higher levels of Stat5 than non-transfected cells and PRL, but not R1881, phosphorylated Stat5 (Figure 13A). With ectopic Stat5, PRL and R1881 alone failed to stimulate the 2.0-kbp CPD promoter, but when administered together they stimulated the activity of this promoter by more than 3-fold (Figure 13B). Similarly, ectopic Stat5 enhanced the effects of the suboptimal doses of PRL and R1881 on the 2.0-kbp CPD promoter activity (Figure 13B).


Figure 13. Sub-optimal doses of PRL and R1881 stimulate  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter activity. A, MCF-7 cells were transfected with Stat5 or left untransfected, growth arrested for 48 h, and then treated with either PRL or R1881 for 15 min. Control cells were left untreated. Cell lysates were used for western analyses to check Stat5 phophory-lation. B, MCF-7 cells were transfected with either the 2.0-kbp CPD or  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter construct, phRL-TK, and Stat5 construct as shown. After 5 h of transfection, the cells were growth arrested for 48 h, and then treated with either PRL (0.1 ng/ml) or R1881 (0.1 nM) alone or in combination (PRL + R1881) for 6 h. Cell lysates were used to measure luciferase reporter activity. Relative luciferase activity is presented as fold induction above baseline control which was arbitrarily set at 1. Three independent experiments were conducted in duplicates. Mean ± SEM, n=3-4. \*\*p<0.001.

These findings suggest that PRL-activated Stat5 might co-operate with the liganded androgen receptor to activate CPD gene transcription.

# 3.10 Stat5 gene knockdown abrogated the cooperative effect of PRL and R1881 on ΔGAS-CPD promoter activity

Next, the selective knockdown of the Stat5 gene in MCF-7 cells was performed using siRNA-targeting. Stat5 knockdown of the CPD gene was confirmed by RT-PCR and Western analysis. Stat5A mRNA levels was abolished for upto 72 h following siRNA transfection, but reappeared at 96 h. The decreased Stat5 protein levels at 72 h was also confirmed by Western analysis (Figure 14A).

The knockdown of Stat5, but not the non-targeting control (siNT), significantly reduced the cooperative effect of PRL and R1881 (Figure 14B) on the activity of the  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD construct. The induction caused by ectopic Stat5 was effectively reduced by Stat5 knockdown, confirming the role of Stat5 in the cooperative stimulation of CPD gene transcription.

### 3.11 GAS and ARE-1 motif of CPD promoter are functional

PRL and R1881 stimulated the activities of CPD promoter constructs that contained both GAS and ARE-1. However, neither hormone stimulated constructs that contain a mutated GAS, whether by substitution or deletion. ChIP assays were next performed to determine whether the PRL-activated Stat5 and the liganded androgen receptor bound to the GAS and ARE-1, respectively. This procedure permits fine



Figure 14. Stat5 siRNA inhibits PRL+R1881 stimulation of  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter activity. MCF-7 cells were transfected with 10 nM siNT and siStat5 as described in Materials and Methods. Control cells were not transfected. Cells were harvested at various timepoints for RT-PCR and western analyses. A, RT-PCR (right panel) and western analysis (left panel) showed the effective knockdown of Stat5 gene expression in siStat5-transfected cells. B, The  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter and renilla luciferase (phRL-TK) were co-transfected with Stat5, siStat5, or siNT as shown in the figure. After 5 h of transfection, the cells were growth arrested for 48 h, and then treated with both prolactin (P) (0.1 ng/ml) and R1881 (R) (0.1 nM) for 6 h. Controls were left untreated. Cell lysates were used to measure luciferase reporter activity. Relative luciferase activity is presented as fold induction above baseline control which was arbitrarily set at 1. Three independent experiments were conducted in duplicates. Mean ± SEM, n=3. \* P<0.05.

mapping of DNA sequences involved in the interactions with transcription factors while maintaining the integrity of their protein-DNA composition.

MCF-7 cells were starved in 1% CSSM for 48 h before treatment with PRL (10 ng/ml) or R1881 (10 nM). ChIP-ready chromatin was then prepared as described in Materials and Methods. Chromatin was then digested with micrococcal nuclease (2 U/ml) at increasing times and the digested DNA was collected (Figure 15B). These DNA fragments (100-300 bp) were then used in ChIP assays to determine the binding sites for the PRL-activated Stat5 and the liganded androgen receptor for the activation of CPD gene transcription.

Samples were prepared for ChIP assays. Briefly, MCF-7 cells were treated with PRL for 15 min and R1881 for 6 h. The cells were trypsinized for the crosslinking reaction. Nuclei were prepared for digestion with MNase. Five percent of total chromatin (5% input) after MNase digestion was used as a positive control to demonstrate that chromatin prepared by MNase digestion was amenable to ChIP analysis. Immunoprecipitations were performed with anti-Stat5, anti-AR, anti-RNAPol II and IgG antibodies. Immunoprecipitations with RNA Pol II and IgG antibodies were used as a positive and a negative control, respectively. GAPDH primers were used to amplify the DNA immunoprecipitated by anti-RNA Pol II and IgG antibodies. The GAS and ARE-1 specific primers were used to amplify the DNA immunoprecipitated by anti-Stat5 and anti-AR antibodies was successfully amplified by GAS-ARE-1 primer demonstrating that PRL-activated Stat5 and liganded AR binds to GAS and ARE-1 region of CPD gene promoter. The GAPDH primer failed to amplify the DNA immunoprecipitated by Stat5 and AR

antibodies (Figure 15C). These results demonstrate that PRL-activated Stat5 and the liganded AR are bound to GAS and ARE-1 of the CPD gene promoter to stimulate CPD gene transcription.





### **CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION**

### 4.1 Hormonal regulation of the CPD rene expression in breast cancer cells

Several studies have shown that CPD, by releasing C-terminal arginine from its substrates, contributes to NO production in RAW 264.7 macrophage, rat lung and microvascular endothelial cells (Hadkar, et al., 2004; Hadkar and Skidgel, 2001). CPD mRNA levels were upregulated by lipopolysachharide and IFN- $\gamma$  (Hadkar, *et al.*, 2004; Hadkar and Skidgel, 2001), and by TGF-β in RAW-264.7 macrophages (Hoff, et al., 2007). Our laboratory was the first to demonstrate that CPD is regulated by hormones in cancer cells. We have previously reported that E2 and PRL upregulate CPD mRNA and/or protein levels in human MCF-7 breast cancer and human HepG2 hepatoma cells (Abdelmagid and Too, 2008; Too, et al., 2001). The increase in CPD levels in MCF-7 cells increases nitric oxide production, which in turn promotes cell viability and inhibits apoptosis (Abdelmagid and Too, 2008). Furthermore, we have reported that testosterone and PRL also upregulates CPD mRNA and protein levels, leading to the increased nitric oxide production for the survival of human prostate cancer cells (Thomas, et al., 2012). In addition to E2 and progesterone, PRL and androgens are known to play critical roles in mammary tumourigenesis (see Introduction), each acting through its specific receptor to bring about specific cellular responses. The convergence of the PRLR, ER and AR signalling pathways on CPD gene activation is useful for the characterization of hormonal interactions and crosstalk, leading to cell survival. This study focuses on the molecular mechanisms regulating CPD gene transcription and expression in breast cancer cells.

#### 4.1.1 PRL, E2 and R1881 upregulate CPD gene expression in breast cancer cells

The present study for the first time demonstrates that R1881, in addition to E2 and PRL, upregulates CPD mRNA levels in a dose-dependent manner in MCF-7 cells. Maximum upregulation was seen at a dose of 10  $\mu$ M for the steroid hormones and 10 ng/ml of PRL (Figure 5). E2, PRL and R1881 also increase CPD protein levels in a time-dependent manner in both MCF-7 and T47D breast cancer cell lines (Figure 6). The action of these hormone are mediated by their specific receptors and transcription factors, suggesting that the presence of their respective response elements in the CPD promoter.

PRL exerts its effects via the PRLR, which activates Jak2 kinase, leading to the recruitment and activation of Stat proteins. Stat5a plays a more prominent role than Stat5b in PRLR signal transduction in the mammary gland (Hennighausen and Robinson, 2001). In mammary cells, the PRL-activated Stat5 proteins bind to the GAS sequence in the promoter region of target genes, some of which are involved in cell proliferation, differentiation, or motility (Clevenger, *et al.*, 2003). Analysis of the CPD promoter region reveals a consensus GAS, the Stat-binding motif, thereby implicating the involvement of the Jak-Stat pathway in CPD gene expression.

There is no consensus ARE in the CPD promoter for the binding of the liganded AR. However, some reported active AREs contain non-consensus bases to which the liganded AR can bind to initiate the transcription of androgen-regulated genes. For example, each of the three active AREs in the human protease-activated receptor-1 (hPar1) gene promoter contains eight non-consensus bases (Salah, *et al.*, 2005). Probasin (Qi, *et al.*, 2008) and prostate-specific antigen (PSA) (Riegman, *et al.*, 1991) gene

promoters also have non-consensus but active AREs (Figure 10). The CPD gene promoter has 3 putative non-consensus AREs within the 2.0-kbp region upstream from the start site (Figure 10). The binding of the liganded AR to one or more of these putative AREs could be a mechanism by which androgens activate the CPD gene in breast cancer cells.

The CPD gene promoter does not contain any consensus ERE. However, the nongenomic actions of estrogen may indirectly turn on gene expression, through the activation of cytoplasmic kinase pathways (e.g. MAPK), and/or through protein-protein interactions of the ER with other transcription factors (e.g., Sp1) in the nucleus. For example, the ER physically interacts with transcription factor Sp1 to stimulate the estrogen-dependent vitellogenin A1 io gene promoter (Batistuzzo de Medeiros, *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore, the relative positions of the ERE and Sp1-binding sites, with respect to the transcription initiation site, could determine whether the ER and Sp1 synergizes to regulate transcription initiation (Batistuzzo de Medeiros, *et al.*, 1997). Similarly, crosstalk between the ER and transcription factor nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NFkB) has been reported in breast cancer cells, to enhance the expression of cell survival genes such as *PHLDA1* and *BIRC3* (Frasor, *et al.*, 2009). Since, the CPD gene promoter contains binding sites for Sp1 and NFkB, the liganded ER could potentially regulate CPD gene transcription through these transcription factors.

### 4.1.2 PRL and R1881, but not E2, activate CPD gene transcription

Hormonal regulation of target gene expression can be at the transcriptional and/or translational level. PRL and R1881 upregulation of CPD mRNA levels were suppressed

by a transcriptional inhibitor, actinomycin D, suggesting that these two hormones directly activate CPD gene transcription. However, the increase in CPD mRNA levels following E2 treatment was not affected by actinomycin D (Figure. 7), leading to the speculation that E2 could have other effects, such as regulation of CPD mRNA stability. In fact, many hormones are known to prolong the half-lives of their target mRNAs. For example, the stabilities of the mRNAs encoding thyrotropin-releasing hormone receptor, casein, AR, and the progesterone receptor have previously been shown to be stabilized by estrogen, PRL, DHT, and follicle stimulating hormone, respectively (Brock and Shapiro, 1983; Guyette, *et al.*, 1979; Iwai, *et al.*, 1991; Yeap, *et al.*, 1999). The best-known example is the estrogen protection of *Xenopus* liver vitellogenin mRNA against cytoplasmic degradation. Estrogen increases both the transcriptional activity of the vitellogenin gene and the stability of the vitellogenin mRNA. The half-life of vitellogenin mRNA increases dramatically from 16 h to 500 h after the administration of estrogen (Brock and Shapiro, 1983).

#### 4.1.3 E2 promotes CPD mRNA stability in MCF-7 cells

The stability of mRNAs could be affected by response to hormonal, environmental, and developmental factors (Wilson and Brewer, 1999). These factors could increase the stability of target mRNAs and change the cytoplasmic mRNA concentration without any change in transcriptional activity. The stability of mRNAs is attributable to the presence or absence of specific sequence elements, which include the well-characterized adenosine (A) and uridine (U)-rich elements located in the 3'untranslated regions (UTRs) of mammalian mRNAs. In addition, the 5'- and 3'-terminal

nuclear modifications of eukaryotic mRNAs, the cap (7mGpppN) and poly (A) tail, respectively, play critical roles in mRNA translation and stability.

The upregulation of the CPD mRNA by E2 in MCF-7 cells appears to be due to an increase in mRNA stability (Figure 9). The cis-acting element and RNA binding proteins that are potentially involved in E2 regulation of CPD mRNA stability are yet unknown. Furthermore, CPD mRNA levels were unaffected by the administration of protein synthesis inhibitor cycloheximide, suggesting that transcriptional upregulation of the CPD gene by E2, PRL and R1881 does not require *de novo* protein synthesis (Figure 8).

### 4.2 PRL and R1881, not E2, stimulate CPD promoter activity

The studies above have established the roles of E2, PRL and R1881 in the activation of CPD gene expression in breast cancer cells. The CPD gene promoter contains potential binding sites for PRL-activated Stat5 and the liganded AR. Therefore, I proceeded to characterize the hormonal regulation of CPD gene promoter activity, and to identify the active transcription factor binding sites in the promoter.

Luciferase reporter constructs containing the 0.7-, 2.0-, or 7.0-kbp CPD gene promoter region were all transcriptionally active when transfected into HepG2 and Chinese Hamster Ovary cells (Timblin, *et al.*, 2002). My study showed that these constructs were also active when transfected into MCF-7 cells (Figure 11A). The 2.0-kbp CPD gene promoter was activated by PRL and R1881, but not E2 (Figure 11B), implicating that the identified GAS and at least one of the putative AREs were active. The failure of E2 to activate the 2.0-kbp CPD-promoter could be due to the lack of any

ERE in this region. This finding is in agreement with the actinomycin D experiments showing that this transcriptional inhibitor had no effect on E2 action (Figure 7).

None of the hormones had any effect on the activity of the 0.7- and 7.0-kbp CPD promoter constructs (Figure 11B). Their inability to activate the 0.7-kbp CPD promoter was probably due to the absence of GAS, ARE and ERE motifs. However, the 7.0-kbp promoter which contains GAS and the several potential AREs also did not respond to any of these hormones. Proper folding of the endogenous DNA is essential to facilitate binding of co-regulators to gene promoters. Proper looping of DNA would allow coregulators to interact with transcription factors binding response elements in gene promoters. However, there is a possibility that when a very large promoter sequence (e.g. 7.0-kbp) is cloned into a vector, it loses its structural integrity and its ability for endogenous interactions with coregulators. This could explain the lack of activation of the 7.0-kbp-promoter construct by PRL and R1881. Also, the transfection procedure for the CPD gene promoter was optimised for the 2.0-kbp construct. Therefore, equal amounts of the 7.0-kbp and 2.0-kbp promoter DNA were used, less copies of the 7.0-kbp promoter would be transfected as compared to the 2.0-kbp promoter. The actual amount of 7.0-kbp promoter DNA transfected into the cells might not have been enough to observe any promoter activity.

# 4.3 GAS mutation supresses PRL and R1881 activation of the 2.0-kbp CPD gene promoter

If the putative AREs were active, their mutation would abrogate R1881 activation of the CPD promoter. Likewise, mutation of the GAS sequence in the CPD gene promoter was expected to abolish its activation by PRL. PRL, but not R1881, phosphorylate and activate Stat5 in MCF-7 cells. The activated/phosphorylated Stat5 binds to the GAS motif to activate gene transcription. The liganded AR does not bind to GAS and, therefore, R1881 activation of the promoter should not be affected by a GAS mutation.

Figure 12B showed that PRL and R1881 continued to stimulate the 2.0-kbp promoter construct even with the deletion of ARE-2 and ARE-3 ( $\Delta$ ARE2,3-CPD). This observation indicated that R1881 stimulation of CPD promoter activity was independent of ARE 2 and ARE 3, but dependent on ARE-1. The stimulatory effect of PRL was likely due to the presence of the identified GAS. When ARE-2, ARE-3 and GAS were all mutated, neither PRL nor R1881 activated the promoter. Similarly, neither PRL nor R1881 activated the promoter ( $\Delta$ GAS-CPD) containing a GAS mutation but with an intact ARE-1,  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD (Figure 12B). The lack of a response with R1881 treatment was unexpected, suggesting that an intact GAS was required for the liganded AR to bind on ARE-1.

### 4.4 Cooperative action of PRL and R1881 on CPD promoter activity

There is considerable evidence of cooperativity between Stat proteins and other transcription factors that are bound to neighboring sites in the same promoter region. For e.g. Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1 (ICAM1) gene promoter contains GAS site in close proximity of Sp1 site, and binding of both Stat and Sp1 is required for full activation of the gene. Co-immunoprecipitation and ChIP assay showed they are in complex when activating ICAM1 gene transcription (Bowman, *et al.*, 2000; Chatterjee-

Kishore, *et al.*, 2000). In addition to direct binding to the GAS motif, Stat proteins can bind to non-GAS site to cooperate with other non-Stat transcription factor(s) (Shuai, 2000). Alternatively, Stat proteins can also cooperate with other transcription factors that enhance Stat5-GAS binding to activate target gene transcription (Shuai, 2000). Studies by Carsol et. al, showed that the PRL-activated Stat5 and the DHT-activated AR stimulate target gene transcription in a synergistic manner in breast cancer cells. The transactivation domains of Stat5 and AR act synergistically to activate Stat5 and AR signalling pathways (Carsol, *et al.*, 2002). Active Stat5 has also been shown to physically interact with the liganded AR, and each increases the nuclear localization and transcriptional activity of the other (Tan, *et al.*, 2008). The finding that R1881 alone does not activate the  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD gene promoter, with an intact ARE-1, prompted me to test the hypothesis that the AR and PRL-Stat5 signalling pathways work cooperatively in activating CPD gene transcription.

# 4.4.1 Suboptimal doses of PRL and R1881 together activate ΔGAS-CPD promoter activity.

To investigate potential interactions between the PRL-Stat5 and AR signalling pathways, suboptimal doses of PRL and R1881were tested together on  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter activity in MCF-7 cells. PRL and R1881 together, but not alone, stimulated the activities of the 2.0-kbp CPD and  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter constructs (Figure 13B), implicating the cooperation between PRL-Stat5 and the liganded AR. Furthermore, when Stat5 was ectopically overexpressed in the transfected cells, PRL and R1881 in combination activated both the 2.0-kbp CPD and  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoters to a higher

degree, demonstrating the cooperation between Stat5 and the liganded AR. Our laboratory has also shown that PRL and R1881 act synergistically to promote NO production in breast cancer cells, which was abrogated by the combination of PRLR and AR antagonists (Thomas and Too, unpublished).

# 4.4.2 siStat5 inhibits the cooperative stimulation of PRL and and rogen on $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter activity

To confirm the involvement of Stat5 in promoting the cooperative action of PRL and androgen on  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter activity, the endogenous Stat5 was knocked down using siRNA. Western blot and qPCR analyses confirmed that the siRNA treatment resulted in the efficient knockdown of Stat5 gene expression (Figure 14A). The knockdown of Stat5 significantly reduced the synergistic effects of PRL and R1881 (Figure 14B), confirming the essential role of Stat5 in the cooperative stimulation of the CPD gene transcription by PRL and R1881.

### 4.4.3 The CPD gene promoter GAS and ARE1 motifs are functional

To further confirm the results obtained by luciferase reporter assays, ChIP analyses were conducted to determine whether the PRL-activated Stat5 and the liganded AR bind to GAS and ARE-1, respectively. The primers flanking the GAS and ARE-1 motifs of the CPD gene promoter successfully amplified the DNA fragments immunoprecipitated by anti-Stat5 and AR antibodies, respectively (Figure 15C), confirming the validity of the GAS and ARE-1 binding sites. The primers flanking ARE-2 region did not amplify the DNA immunoprecipitated by anti-AR antibodies (Figure 15C), supporting the previous finding that ARE-2 was not active, that is, it was not a binding site for the liganded AR.

### 4.5. Conclusion

This study demonstrated that E2, PRL, and R1881 upregulated CPD protein and mRNA levels in a time- and dose-dependent manner. The increase in CPD mRNA levels was found to be transcriptionally regulated by PRL and R1881, since actinomycin D inhibited the stimulatory effect of these hormones. In contrast, E2 upregulation of CPD mRNA levels was not inhibited by actinomycin D, but was due to an increase in CPD mRNA stability. The activity of the 2.0-kbp CPD promoter was increased by the administration of PRL and R1881, implicating the involvement of the GAS motif and at least one of the AREs found in the promoter region. The failure of E2 to activate the 2.0kbp CPD promoter was consistent with the absence of an ERE motif, as well as the earlier finding that the E2-mediated increase in CPD mRNA levels was not inhibited by actinomycin D. The deletion of ARE-2 and ARE-3 did not affect the activation of the CPD promoter by PRL and R1881, suggesting that GAS and ARE-1, but not ARE-2 nor ARE-3, were functional. The PRL and R1881 stimulation of the  $\Delta$ GAS-CPD promoter, with an intact ARE-1, were abolished upon deletion of the GAS motif, but the activity was restored when PRL and androgen were administered together, implicating cooperative action between the PRL-activated transcription factor Stat5 and the liganded AR. The cooperative effect of PRL and androgen was further enhanced in the presence of ectopic Stat5, providing additional evidence for the involvement of the PRL-Stat5 pathway in CPD gene transcription. ChIP analysis showed that the PRL-activated Stat5

and the liganded AR bound to the GAS and ARE-1 motifs in the CPD promoter, respectively, thus confirming PRL and R1881 stimulation of CPD gene transcription through Stat5 and AR.

In summary, the findings discussed above provide insight into the mechanisms by which E2, PRL and R1881 promote CPD gene transcription and expression. This study also demonstrates the convergence of PRL- and androgen-activated pathways in the transcriptional activation of the CPD gene (Figure 16). Our laboratory has previously shown that hormonal upregulation of CPD increases NO production, which in turn leads to the survival of MCF-7 breast cancer cells (Abdelmagid and Too, 2008). As explained in the Introduction, E2, PRL and R1881, acting through their specific receptors can also regulate other genes to bring about breast tumourigenesis. Therefore, instead of targeting a myriad of hormone-regulated targets, targeting the PRLR and the AR, in addition to the ER, would be an important strategy for the treatment of breast tumour that express these receptors.

The convergence of PRLR and AR signalling pathways in the cooperative stimulation of CPD gene transcription in mammalian cells in culture could be further explored in mouse models. For example, a xenograft model of MDA-MB-453 (triple negative for ER, PR and HER2, but expressing AR and PRLR) could be established to determine the effect of targeting the PRLR and AR with receptor antagonists  $\Delta$ G129hRhPRL and bicalutamide, respectively. The MDA-MB-453 cells would be grown as solid mammary tumours in NOD/SCID mice. The mice bearing tumours would be treated with daily administration of vehicle, or with AR and PRLR antagonists, bicalutamide and  $\Delta$ G129hR-hPRL, respectively, either alone or in combination. Tumour volume would be determined and compared between vehicle- and drug-treated mice. The effect of receptor antagonists could be assessed on several parameters, such as tumor growth and volume, and immunostained for proliferative and angiogenic markers. Recently, a new PRLR antagonist LFA102 (Diamiano, *et al.*, 2012) has been put on phase I preclinical trial by Novartis, for patients with PRLR-positive metastatic breast cancer (http://clinicaltrials.gov/show/NCT01338831). In addition, a multicenter phase II trial (NCT00468715) of the AR antagonist, bicalutamide, for patients with AR-positive ER-/PR- metastatic breast cancer, was found to be well tolerated, and prolonged life by > 6 months in that treatment group (Thanopoulou, *et al.*, 2013).

In summary, this study suggests that targeting the PRL and androgen receptor signalling pathways would be an important consideration and an additional strategy for the treatment and/or management of breast cancer. Such therapies that target the PRLR and AR could be administered to patients that have AR or PRLR positive breast cancers.



**Figure 16. Functional cooperation of Stat5 with liganded AR to activate CPD gene transcription.** In the presence of PRL and androgen, the PRL-activated Stat5 dimer cooperates with the liganded androgen receptor to activate CPD gene transcription.

### 4.6 Future Studies

The present study has provided insight into the regulation of CPD gene transcription and expression by PRL, E2 and R1881. This study confirmed the validity of the GAS and ARE-1 motifs in the CPD gene promoter, and also demonstrated the cooperative effect of PRL and R1881 on CPD promoter activity. The present findings have opened new avenues for future cancer research. The potential physical interaction between the PRL-activated Stat5 and the liganded AR for the activation of CPD gene expression was not determined in this study. Stat5 and AR have been reported to interact physically in prostate cancer cells (Tan, *et al.*, 2008) but have yet to be shown in breast cancer cells. Another future study would be to determine the effect of Stat5 on the nuclear localization of the liganded AR, and vice versa, in breast cancer cells.

E2 upregulation of CPD gene expression was determined to occur nontranscriptionally. Thus, it would be of interest to determine whether any other transcription factors (e.g., Sp1) or signalling pathways (e.g., MAPK) are involved in E2regulated CPD gene expression. Another future study could be to identify cis- or transacting elements and RNA-binding proteins that is/are involved in E2-mediated CPD mRNA stability. For example, DNA elements of untranslated regions (UTR) like 5' cap region, 3' poly-A tail and 3' adenine and uridine (AU)-rich elements are known to be involved in mRNA stability and degradation. Similarly, RNA binding proteins like AUrich element binding factor and iron regulatory protein has been shown to be involved in mRNA stabilization (Guhaniyogi and Brewer, 2001).

## **Bibliography**

1. Abdelmagid SA and Too CK (2008) Prolactin and estrogen up-regulate carboxypeptidase-d to promote nitric oxide production and survival of mcf-7 breast cancer cells. Endocrinology 149: 4821-4828.

 Agoff SN, Swanson PE, Linden H, Hawes SE and Lawton TJ (2003) Androgen receptor expression in estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer. Immunohistochemical, clinical, and prognostic associations. American Journal of Clinical Pathology 120: 725-731.

3. Ahn B and Ohshima H (2001) Suppression of intestinal polyposis in Apc(Min/+) mice by inhibiting nitric oxide production. Cancer Research 61: 8357-8360.

4. Alderton WK, Cooper CE and Knowles RG (2001) Nitric oxide synthases: structure, function and inhibition. The Biochemical Journal 357: 593-615.

5. Alen P, Claessens F, Verhoeven G, Rombauts W and Peeters B (1999) The androgen receptor amino-terminal domain plays a key role in p160 coactivator-stimulated gene transcription. Molecular and Cellular Biology 19: 6085-6097.

 Ali S, Edery M, Pellegrini I, Lesueur L, Paly J, Djiane J and Kelly PA (1992) The Nb2 form of prolactin receptor is able to activate a milk protein gene promoter.
 Molecular Endocrinology 6: 1242-1248.

 Aloy P, Companys V, Vendrell J, Aviles FX, Fricker LD, Coll M and Gomis-Ruth FX (2001) The crystal structure of the inhibitor-complexed carboxypeptidase D domain II and the modeling of regulatory carboxypeptidases. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 276: 16177-16184.

Ambs S, Ogunfusika MO, Merriam WG, Bennett WP, Billiar TR and Harris CC (1998) Up-regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in cancer-prone p53 knockout mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95: 8823-8828.

9. American Cancer Society (2008) Global cancer fact and figures. 2nd edition:

10. Amit T, Dibner C and Barkey RJ (1997) Characterization of prolactin- and growth hormone-binding proteins in milk and their diversity among species. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 130: 167-180.

 Arden KC, Boutin JM, Djiane J, Kelly PA and Cavenee WK (1990) The receptors for prolactin and growth hormone are localized in the same region of human chromosome
 Cytogenetics and Cell Genetics 53: 161-165.

12. Batistuzzo de Medeiros SR, Krey G, Hihi AK and Wahli W (1997) Functional interactions between the estrogen receptor and the transcription activator Sp1 regulate the estrogen-dependent transcriptional activity of the vitellogenin A1 io promoter. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 272: 18250-18260.

13. Bazan JF (1990) Structural design and molecular evolution of a cytokine receptor superfamily. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 87: 6934-6938.

14. Ben-Jonathan N, LaPensee CR and LaPensee EW (2008) What can we learn from rodents about prolactin in humans? Endocrine Reviews 29: 1-41.

 Ben-Jonathan N, Mershon JL, Allen DL and Steinmetz RW (1996) Extrapituitary prolactin: distribution, regulation, functions, and clinical aspects. Endocrine Reviews 17: 639-669.

 Bern HA and Nicoll CS (1968) The comparative endocrinology of prolactin. Recent Progress in Hormone Research 24: 681-720.

Bernstein L (2002) Epidemiology of endocrine-related risk factors for breast cancer.
 Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia 7: 3-15.

 Berthon P, Kelly PA and Djiane J (1987) Water-soluble prolactin receptors from porcine mammary gland. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine 184: 300-306.

19. Birrell SN, Hall RE and Tilley WD (1998) Role of the androgen receptor in human breast cancer. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia 3: 95-103.

 Biswas R and Vonderhaar BK (1987) Role of serum in the prolactin responsiveness of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells in long-term tissue culture. Cancer Research 47: 3509-3514.

21. Bole-Feysot C, Goffin V, Edery M, Binart N and Kelly PA (1998) Prolactin (PRL) and its receptor: actions, signal transduction pathways and phenotypes observed in PRL receptor knockout mice. Endocrine Reviews 19: 225-268.

22. Boutin JM, Edery M, Shirota M, Jolicoeur C, Lesueur L, Ali S, Gould D, Djiane J and Kelly PA (1989) Identification of a cDNA encoding a long form of prolactin receptor in human hepatoma and breast cancer cells. Molecular Endocrinology 3: 1455-1461.

Bowman T, Garcia R, Turkson J and Jove R (2000) STATs in oncogenesis.
 Oncogene 19: 2474-2488.

24. Brock ML and Shapiro DJ (1983) Estrogen stabilizes vitellogenin mRNA against cytoplasmic degradation. Cell 34: 207-214.

25. Brockman JL, Schroeder MD and Schuler LA (2002) PRL activates the cyclin D1 promoter via the Jak2/Stat pathway. Molecular Endocrinology 16: 774-784.

26. Brown CJ, Goss SJ, Lubahn DB, Joseph DR, Wilson EM, French FS and Willard HF (1989) Androgen receptor locus on the human X chromosome: regional localization to Xq11-12 and description of a DNA polymorphism. American Journal of Human Genetics 44: 264-269.

Bryan RM, Mercer RJ, Bennett RC, Rennie GC, Lie TH and Morgan FJ (1984)
 Androgen receptors in breast cancer. Cancer 54: 2436-2440.

28. Campbell GS, Argetsinger LS, Ihle JN, Kelly PA, Rillema JA and Carter-Su C (1994) Activation of JAK2 tyrosine kinase by prolactin receptors in Nb2 cells and mouse mammary gland explants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 91: 5232-5236.

29. Campeau PM, Foulkes WD and Tischkowitz MD (2008) Hereditary breast cancer: new genetic developments, new therapeutic avenues. Human Genetics 124: 31-42.

30. Canadian Cancer Society (2012) Breast cancer statistics at a glance.

31. Carsol JL, Gingras S and Simard J (2002) Synergistic action of prolactin (PRL) and androgen on PRL-inducible protein gene expression in human breast cancer cells: a unique model for functional cooperation between signal transducer and activator of transcription-5 and androgen receptor. Molecular Endocrinology 16: 1696-1710.

32. Cauley JA, Lucas FL, Kuller LH, Stone K, Browner W and Cummings SR (1999) Elevated serum estradiol and testosterone concentrations are associated with a high risk for breast cancer. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Annals of Internal Medicine 130: 270-277.

33. Chatterjee-Kishore M, van den Akker F and Stark GR (2000) Association of STATs with relatives and friends. Trends in Cell Biology 10: 106-111.

34. Chawnshang C (2002) Androgens and Androgen Receptor: Mechanisms, Functions, and Clinal Applications.

35. Claessens F, Verrijdt G, Schoenmakers E, Haelens A, Peeters B, Verhoeven G and Rombauts W (2001) Selective DNA binding by the androgen receptor as a mechanism for hormone-specific gene regulation. The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 76: 23-30.

36. Clarke R, Thompson EW, Leonessa F, Lippman J, McGarvey M, Frandsen TL and Brunner N (1993) Hormone resistance, invasiveness, and metastatic potential in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 24: 227-239.

 Clarke RB, Howell A, Potten CS and Anderson E (1997) Dissociation between steroid receptor expression and cell proliferation in the human breast. Cancer Research 57: 4987-4991.

38. Clevenger CV, Furth PA, Hankinson SE and Schuler LA (2003) The role of prolactin in mammary carcinoma. Endocrine Reviews 24: 1-27.

39. Colditz GA, Atwood KA, Emmons K, Monson RR, Willett WC, Trichopoulos D and Hunter DJ (2000) Harvard report on cancer prevention volume 4: Harvard Cancer Risk Index. Risk Index Working Group, Harvard Center for Cancer Prevention. Cancer Causes & Control : CCC 11: 477-488.

40. Cooke NE, Coit D, Shine J, Baxter JD and Martial JA (1981) Human prolactin.cDNA structural analysis and evolutionary comparisons. The Journal of BiologicalChemistry 256: 4007-4016.

41. Coombs NJ, Cronin KA, Taylor RJ, Freedman AN and Boyages J (2010) The impact of changes in hormone therapy on breast cancer incidence in the US population. Cancer Causes & Control : CCC 21: 83-90.

42. Cosman D (1993) The hematopoietin receptor superfamily. Cytokine 5: 95-106.
43. Cowley SM, Hoare S, Mosselman S and Parker MG (1997) Estrogen receptors alpha and beta form heterodimers on DNA. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 272: 19858-19862.

44. Crowell JA, Steele VE, Sigman CC and Fay JR (2003) Is inducible nitric oxide synthase a target for chemoprevention? Molecular Cancer Therapeutics 2: 815-823.

45. Cummings SR, Eckert S, Krueger KA, Grady D, Powles TJ, Cauley JA, Norton L, Nickelsen T, Bjarnason NH, Morrow M, Lippman ME, Black D, Glusman JE, Costa A and Jordan VC (1999) The effect of raloxifene on risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women: results from the MORE randomized trial. Multiple Outcomes of Raloxifene Evaluation. JAMA : The Journal of the American Medical Association 281: 2189-2197.
46. Cuzick J (2001) A brief review of the International Breast Cancer Intervention Study (IBIS), the other current breast cancer prevention trials, and proposals for future trials. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 949: 123-133.

47. Dahlman-Wright K, Grandien K, Nilsson S, Gustafsson JA and Carlstedt-Duke J (1993) Protein-protein interactions between the DNA-binding domains of nuclear receptors: influence on DNA-binding. The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular biology 45: 239-250.

48. Damiano JS, Rendahl KG, Karim C, Embry MG, Ghoddusi M, Holash J, Fanidi A, Abrams TJ and Abraham JA (2013) Neutralization of prolactin receptor function by

monoclonal antibody LFA102, a novel potential therapeutic for the treatment of breast cancer. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics 12: 295-305.

48. Das R and Vonderhaar BK (1996) Activation of raf-1, MEK, and MAP kinase in prolactin responsive mammary cells. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 40: 141-149.
49. DaSilva L, Rui H, Erwin RA, Howard OM, Kirken RA, Malabarba MG, Hackett

RH, Larner AC and Farrar WL (1996) Prolactin recruits STAT1, STAT3 and STAT5 independent of conserved receptor tyrosines TYR402, TYR479, TYR515 and TYR580. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 117: 131-140.

50. Davis JA and Linzer DI (1989) Expression of multiple forms of the prolactin receptor in mouse liver. Molecular Endocrinology 3: 674-680.

51. de Jong MM, Nolte IM, te Meerman GJ, van der Graaf WT, Oosterwijk JC, Kleibeuker JH, Schaapveld M and de Vries EG (2002) Genes other than BRCA1 and BRCA2 involved in breast cancer susceptibility. Journal of Medical Genetics 39: 225-242.

Decker T and Kovarik P (2000) Serine phosphorylation of STATs. Oncogene 19:
 2628-2637.

53. Dodd F, Limoges M, Boudreau RT, Rowden G, Murphy PR and Too CK (2000) Larginine inhibits apoptosis via a NO-dependent mechanism in Nb2 lymphoma cells. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 77: 624-634.

54. Dong Z, Staroselsky AH, Qi X, Xie K and Fidler IJ (1994) Inverse correlation between expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase activity and production of metastasis in K-1735 murine melanoma cells. Cancer Research 54: 789-793. 55. Dowsett M, Folkerd E, Doody D and Haynes B (2005) The biology of steroid hormones and endocrine treatment of breast cancer. Breast 14: 452-457.

56. Dubik D and Shiu RP (1992) Mechanism of estrogen activation of c-myc oncogene expression. Oncogene 7: 1587-1594.

57. Dumitrescu RG and Cotarla I (2005) Understanding breast cancer risk -- where do we stand in 2005? Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine 9: 208-221.

58. Featherstone K, White MR and Davis JR (2012) The prolactin gene: a paradigm of tissue-specific gene regulation with complex temporal transcription dynamics. Journal of Neuroendocrinology 24: 977-990.

 Fernandez SV, Russo IH and Russo J (2006) Estradiol and its metabolites 4hydroxyestradiol and 2-hydroxyestradiol induce mutations in human breast epithelial cells. International journal of cancer. Journal International du Cancer 118: 1862-1868.
 Ferrag F, Chiarenza A, Goffin V and Kelly PA (1996) Convergence of signaling transduced by prolactin (PRL)/cytokine chimeric receptors on PRL-responsive gene transcription. Molecular Endocrinology 10: 451-460.

61. Finidori J and Kelly PA (1995) Cytokine receptor signalling through two novel families of transducer molecules: Janus kinases, and signal transducers and activators of transcription. The Journal of Endocrinology 147: 11-23.

62. Fisher B, Costantino JP, Wickerham DL, Redmond CK, Kavanah M, Cronin WM, Vogel V, Robidoux A, Dimitrov N, Atkins J, Daly M, Wieand S, Tan-Chiu E, Ford L and Wolmark N (1998) Tamoxifen for prevention of breast cancer: report of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 Study. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 90: 1371-1388.

63. Frasor J, Weaver A, Pradhan M, Dai Y, Miller LD, Lin CY and Stanculescu A(2009) Positive cross-talk between estrogen receptor and NF-kappaB in breast cancer.Cancer Research 69: 8918-8925.

64. Freeman ME, Kanyicska B, Lerant A and Nagy G (2000) Prolactin: structure, function, and regulation of secretion. Physiological Reviews 80: 1523-1631.

65. Friebe A and Koesling D (2003) Regulation of nitric oxide-sensitive guanylyl cyclase. Circulation Research 93: 96-105.

66. Fuh G and Wells JA (1995) Prolactin receptor antagonists that inhibit the growth of breast cancer cell lines. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 270: 13133-13137.

67. Fukumura D, Kashiwagi S and Jain RK (2006) The role of nitric oxide in tumour progression. Nature reviews. Cancer 6: 521-534.

68. Furchgott RF and Zawadzki JV (1980) The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. Nature 288: 373-376.

69. Galien R and Garcia T (1997) Estrogen receptor impairs interleukin-6 expression by preventing protein binding on the NF-kappaB site. Nucleic Acids Research 25: 2424-2429.

70. Gellersen B, DiMattia GE, Friesen HG and Bohnet HG (1989) Prolactin (PRL)
mRNA from human decidua differs from pituitary PRL mRNA but resembles the IM-9P3 lymphoblast PRL transcript. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 64: 127-130.

71. Gellersen B, Kempf R, Telgmann R and DiMattia GE (1994) Nonpituitary human prolactin gene transcription is independent of Pit-1 and differentially controlled in lymphocytes and in endometrial stroma. Molecular Endocrinology 8: 356-373.

72. Gelmann EP (2002) Molecular biology of the androgen receptor. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 20: 3001-3015.
73. Gertler A, Grosclaude J, Strasburger CJ, Nir S and Djiane J (1996) Real-time kinetic measurements of the interactions between lactogenic hormones and prolactin-receptor extracellular domains from several species support the model of hormone-induced transient receptor dimerization. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 271: 24482-24491.

74. Glass CK and Rosenfeld MG (2000) The coregulator exchange in transcriptional functions of nuclear receptors. Genes & Development 14: 121-141.

75. Goffin V, Bouchard B, Ormandy CJ, Weimann E, Ferrag F, Touraine P, Bole-Feysot C, Maaskant RA, Clement-Lacroix P, Edery M, Binart N and Kelly PA (1998) Prolactin: a hormone at the crossroads of neuroimmunoendocrinology. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 840: 498-509.

 Goffin V and Kelly PA (1996) Prolactin and growth hormone receptors. Clinical Endocrinology 45: 247-255.

77. Goffin V, Shiverick KT, Kelly PA and Martial JA (1996) Sequence-function relationships within the expanding family of prolactin, growth hormone, placental lactogen, and related proteins in mammals. Endocrine Reviews 17: 385-410.

78. Gouilleux F, Moritz D, Humar M, Moriggl R, Berchtold S and Groner B (1995) Prolactin and interleukin-2 receptors in T lymphocytes signal through a MGF-STAT5like transcription factor. Endocrinology 136: 5700-5708.

79. Gourdji D and Laverriere JN (1994) The rat prolactin gene: a target for tissuespecific and hormone-dependent transcription factors. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 100: 133-142.

80. Guhaniyogi J and Brewer G (2001) Regulation of mRNA stability in mammalian cells. Gene 265: 11-23.

81. Guyette WA, Matusik RJ and Rosen JM (1979) Prolactin-mediated transcriptional and post-transcriptional control of casein gene expression. Cell 17: 1013-1023.

82. Hackenberg R and Schulz KD (1996) Androgen receptor mediated growth control of breast cancer and endometrial cancer modulated by antiandrogen- and androgen-like steroids. The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 56: 113-117.

83. Hadkar V, Sangsree S, Vogel SM, Brovkovych V and Skidgel RA (2004) Carboxypeptidase-mediated enhancement of nitric oxide production in rat lungs and microvascular endothelial cells. American journal of physiology. Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology 287: L35-45.

84. Hadkar V and Skidgel RA (2001) Carboxypeptidase D is up-regulated in raw 264.7
macrophages and stimulates nitric oxide synthesis by cells in arginine-free medium.
Molecular Pharmacology 59: 1324-1332.

85. Hankinson SE, Willett WC, Manson JE, Colditz GA, Hunter DJ, Spiegelman D, Barbieri RL and Speizer FE (1998) Plasma sex steroid hormone levels and risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 90: 1292-1299.

86. Hankinson SE, Willett WC, Michaud DS, Manson JE, Colditz GA, Longcope C, Rosner B and Speizer FE (1999) Plasma prolactin levels and subsequent risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 91: 629-634.

87. Harris J, Stanford PM, Oakes SR and Ormandy CJ (2004) Prolactin and the

prolactin receptor: new targets of an old hormone. Annals of Medicine 36: 414-425.

88. Heldring N, Pike A, Andersson S, Matthews J, Cheng G, Hartman J, Tujague M, Strom A, Treuter E, Warner M and Gustafsson JA (2007) Estrogen receptors: how do they signal and what are their targets. Physiological Reviews 87: 905-931.

89. Heller R, Polack T, Grabner R and Till U (1999) Nitric oxide inhibits proliferation of human endothelial cells via a mechanism independent of cGMP. Atherosclerosis 144: 49-57.

90. Hennighausen L and Robinson GW (2001) Signaling pathways in mammary gland development. Developmental Cell 1: 467-475.

91. Hoff NP, Degrandi D, Hengge U, Pfeffer K and Wurthner JU (2007)Carboxypeptidase D: a novel TGF-beta target gene dysregulated in patients with lupus

erythematosus. Journal of Clinical Immunology 27: 568-579.

92. Hofseth LJ, Hussain SP, Wogan GN and Harris CC (2003) Nitric oxide in cancer and chemoprevention. Free Radical Biology & Medicine 34: 955-968.

93. Holtkamp W, Nagel GA, Wander HE, Rauschecker HF and von Heyden D (1984)
Hyperprolactinemia is an indicator of progressive disease and poor prognosis in advanced
breast cancer. International journal of cancer. Journal International du Cancer 34: 323328.

94. Howell A, Cuzick J, Baum M, Buzdar A, Dowsett M, Forbes JF, Hoctin-Boes G,
Houghton J, Locker GY and Tobias JS (2005) Results of the ATAC (Arimidex,
Tamoxifen, Alone or in Combination) trial after completion of 5 years' adjuvant
treatment for breast cancer. Lancet 365: 60-62.

95. Hugo ER, Borcherding DC, Gersin KS, Loftus J and Ben-Jonathan N (2008)Prolactin release by adipose explants, primary adipocytes, and LS14 adipocytes. TheJournal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 93: 4006-4012.

96. Ignarro LJ, Buga GM, Wood KS, Byrns RE and Chaudhuri G (1987) Endotheliumderived relaxing factor produced and released from artery and vein is nitric oxide.
Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 84: 9265-9269.

97. Ihle JN (1996) STATs and MAPKs: obligate or opportunistic partners in signaling.BioEssays : News and Reviews in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology 18:95-98.

98. Imagawa W, Tomooka Y, Hamamoto S and Nandi S (1985) Stimulation of mammary epithelial cell growth in vitro: interaction of epidermal growth factor and mammogenic hormones. Endocrinology 116: 1514-1524.

99. Ishikawa T, Murakami K, Kido Y, Ohnishi S, Yazaki Y, Harada F and Kuroki K (1998) Cloning, functional expression, and chromosomal localization of the human and mouse gp180-carboxypeptidase D-like enzyme. Gene 215: 361-370.

100. Iwai M, Yasuda K, Fukuoka M, Iwai T, Takakura K, Taii S, Nakanishi S and Mori T (1991) Luteinizing hormone induces progesterone receptor gene expression in cultured porcine granulosa cells. Endocrinology 129: 1621-1627.

101. Jakowlew SB, Breathnach R, Jeltsch JM, Masiakowski P and Chambon P (1984) Sequence of the pS2 mRNA induced by estrogen in the human breast cancer cell line MCF-7. Nucleic Acids Research 12: 2861-2878.

102. Jenkins DC, Charles IG, Thomsen LL, Moss DW, Holmes LS, Baylis SA, RhodesP, Westmore K, Emson PC and Moncada S (1995) Roles of nitric oxide in tumor growth.Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92:4392-4396.

 Jenson E and Jacobson H (1962) Basic guides to the mechanism of estrogen action. Recent Prog Horm Res 18: 387-414.

104. Kamalakaran S, Radhakrishnan SK and Beck WT (2005) Identification of estrogen-responsive genes using a genome-wide analysis of promoter elements for transcription factor binding sites. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 280: 21491-21497.
105. Kelly PA, Djiane J, Postel-Vinay MC and Edery M (1991) The prolactin/growth hormone receptor family. Endocrine Reviews 12: 235-251.

106. Kelsey JL, Gammon MD and John EM (1993) Reproductive factors and breast cancer. Epidemiologic Reviews 15: 36-47.

107. Kenemans P, Verstraeten RA and Verheijen RH (2004) Oncogenic pathways in hereditary and sporadic breast cancer. Maturitas 49: 34-43.

108. Key TJ and Pike MC (1988) The role of oestrogens and progestagens in the epidemiology and prevention of breast cancer. European Journal of Cancer & Clinical oncology 24: 29-43.

109. Klein-Hitpass L, Schorpp M, Wagner U and Ryffel GU (1986) An estrogenresponsive element derived from the 5' flanking region of the Xenopus vitellogenin A2 gene functions in transfected human cells. Cell 46: 1053-1061.

110. Klijn JG, Setyono-Han B and Foekens JA (2000) Progesterone antagonists and progesterone receptor modulators in the treatment of breast cancer. Steroids 65: 825-830.

111. Kline JB and Clevenger CV (2001) Identification and characterization of theprolactin-binding protein in human serum and milk. The Journal of Biological Chemistry276: 24760-24766.

112. Kline JB, Roehrs H and Clevenger CV (1999) Functional characterization of the intermediate isoform of the human prolactin receptor. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 274: 35461-35468.

113. Klinge CM (2000) Estrogen receptor interaction with co-activators and corepressors. Steroids 65: 227-251.

114. Knight WA, Livingston RB, Gregory EJ and McGuire WL (1977) Estrogenreceptor as an independent prognostic factor for early recurrence in breast cancer. CancerResearch 37: 4669-4671.

115. Kong L, Dunn GD, Keefer LK and Korthuis RJ (1996) Nitric oxide reduces tumorcell adhesion to isolated rat postcapillary venules. Clinical & Experimental Metastasis 14:335-343.

116. Kong LY, Szaniszlo P, Albrecht T and Liehr JG (2000) Frequency and molecular analysis of hprt mutations induced by estradiol in Chinese hamster V79 cells.International Journal of Oncology 17: 1141-1149.

117. Koptyra M, Gupta S, Talati P and Nevalainen MT (2011) Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5a/b: biomarker and therapeutic target in prostate and breast cancer. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology 43: 1417-1421.

118. Kuiper GG, Faber PW, van Rooij HC, van der Korput JA, Ris-Stalpers C, Klaassen P, Trapman J and Brinkmann AO (1989) Structural organization of the human androgen receptor gene. Journal of Molecular Endocrinology 2: R1-4.

119. Kuroki K, Eng F, Ishikawa T, Turck C, Harada F and Ganem D (1995) gp180, a host cell glycoprotein that binds duck hepatitis B virus particles, is encoded by a member of the carboxypeptidase gene family. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 270: 15022-15028.

120. Lala PK and Chakraborty C (2001) Role of nitric oxide in carcinogenesis and tumour progression. The Lancet Oncology 2: 149-156.

121. Lee DK, Duan HO and Chang C (2000) From androgen receptor to the general transcription factor TFIIH. Identification of cdk activating kinase (CAK) as an androgen receptor NH(2)-terminal associated coactivator. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 275: 9308-9313.

122. Lewis JS and Jordan VC (2005) Selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs): mechanisms of anticarcinogenesis and drug resistance. Mutation research 591: 247-263.

123. Li J and Al-Azzawi F (2009) Mechanism of Androgen Receptor Action. Maturitas63: 142-148.

124. Liu X, Robinson GW, Gouilleux F, Groner B and Hennighausen L (1995) Cloning and expression of Stat5 and an additional homologue (Stat5b) involved in prolactin signal
transduction in mouse mammary tissue. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92: 8831-8835.

125. Malarkey WB, Kennedy M, Allred LE and Milo G (1983) Physiological concentrations of prolactin can promote the growth of human breast tumor cells in culture. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 56: 673-677.

126. Marletta MA (1988) Mammalian synthesis of nitrite, nitrate, nitric oxide, and Nnitrosating agents. Chemical Research in Toxicology 1: 249-257.

127. Martin AM and Weber BL (2000) Genetic and hormonal risk factors in breast cancer. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 92: 1126-1135.

128. Maus MV, Reilly SC and Clevenger CV (1999) Prolactin as a chemoattractant for human breast carcinoma. Endocrinology 140: 5447-5450.

129. McGwire GB, Tan F, Michel B, Rehli M and Skidgel RA (1997) Identification of a membrane-bound carboxypeptidase as the mammalian homolog of duck gp180, a hepatitis B virus-binding protein. Life Sciences 60: 715-724.

130. Mershon J, Sall W, Mitchner N and Ben-Jonathan N (1995) Prolactin is a local growth factor in rat mammary tumors. Endocrinology 136: 3619-3623.

Moinfar F, Okcu M, Tsybrovskyy O, Regitnig P, Lax SF, Weybora W, Ratschek M, Tavassoli FA and Denk H (2003) Androgen receptors frequently are expressed in breast carcinomas: potential relevance to new therapeutic strategies. Cancer 98: 703-711.
Molina MA, Codony-Servat J, Albanell J, Rojo F, Arribas J and Baselga J (2001) Trastuzumab (herceptin), a humanized anti-Her2 receptor monoclonal antibody, inhibits basal and activated Her2 ectodomain cleavage in breast cancer cells. Cancer Research 61: 4744-4749.

133. Morisset M, Capony F and Rochefort H (1986) The 52-kDa estrogen-induced protein secreted by MCF7 cells is a lysosomal acidic protease. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 138: 102-109.

134. Murata J, Tada M, Iggo RD, Sawamura Y, Shinohe Y and Abe H (1997) Nitric oxide as a carcinogen: analysis by yeast functional assay of inactivating p53 mutations induced by nitric oxide. Mutation Research 379: 211-218.

135. Mustacchi P (1961) Ramazzini and Rigoni-Stern on parity and breast cancer.Clinical impression and statistical corroboration. Archives of Internal Medicine 108: 639-642.

136. Muthuswamy SK (2012) Autocrine prolactin: an emerging market for homegrown (prolactin) despite the imports. Genes & Development 26: 2253-2258.

137. Narod SA, Lubinski J, Ghadirian P, Lynch HT, Moller P, Foulkes WD, Rosen B, Kim-Sing C, Isaacs C, Domchek S and Sun P (2006) Screening mammography and risk of breast cancer in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers: a case-control study. The Lancet Oncology 7: 402-406.

138. National Cancer Institute (2009) Adjuvant and neoadjuvant therapy for breast cancer.

139. National Cancer Institute (2012) Hormone therapy for breast cancer.

140. Nilsson S and Gustafsson JA (2000) Estrogen receptor transcription and transactivation: Basic aspects of estrogen action. Breast Cancer Research : BCR 2: 360-366.

141. North American Menopause Society (2007) The role of vaginal estrogen for treatment of vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women:2007 position statement of The North American Menopause Society. Menopause 355-369.

142. O'Malley PG, Sangster SM, Abdelmagid SA, Bearne SL and Too CK (2005) Characterization of a novel, cytokine-inducible carboxypeptidase D isoform in haematopoietic tumour cells. The Biochemical Journal 390: 665-673.

143. Owerbach D, Rutter WJ, Cooke NE, Martial JA and Shows TB (1981) The prolactin gene is located on chromosome 6 in humans. Science 212: 815-816.

144. Palmer RM, Ferrige AG and Moncada S (1987) Nitric oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor. Nature 327: 524-526.

145. Pance A (2006) Nitric oxide and hormones in breast cancer: allies or enemies?Future Oncology 2: 275-288.

146. Park S, Koo J, Park HS, Kim JH, Choi SY, Lee JH, Park BW and Lee KS (2010)Expression of androgen receptors in primary breast cancer. Annals of Oncology : OfficialJournal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO 21: 488-492.

147. Parkin DM, Pisani P and Ferlay J (1999) Global cancer statistics. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians 49: 33-64, 31.

148. Pathak DR, Osuch JR and He J (2000) Breast carcinoma etiology: current knowledge and new insights into the effects of reproductive and hormonal risk factors in black and white populations. Cancer 88: 1230-1238.

149. Peers B, Voz ML, Monget P, Mathy-Hartert M, Berwaer M, Belayew A and Martial JA (1990) Regulatory elements controlling pituitary-specific expression of the human prolactin gene. Molecular and Cellular Biology 10: 4690-4700.

150. Perel E, Davis S and Killinger DW (1981) Androgen metabolism in male and female breast tissue. Steroids 37: 345-352.

151. Perks CM, Keith AJ, Goodhew KL, Savage PB, Winters ZE and Holly JM (2004)Prolactin acts as a potent survival factor for human breast cancer cell lines. BritishJournal of Cancer 91: 305-311.

152. Petz LN, Ziegler YS, Schultz JR, Kim H, Kemper JK and Nardulli AM (2004) Differential regulation of the human progesterone receptor gene through an estrogen response element half site and Sp1 sites. The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 88: 113-122.

153. Pezet A, Favre H, Kelly PA and Edery M (1999) Inhibition and restoration of prolactin signal transduction by suppressors of cytokine signaling. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 274: 24497-24502.

154. Pezet A, Ferrag F, Kelly PA and Edery M (1997) Tyrosine docking sites of the rat prolactin receptor required for association and activation of stat5. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 272: 25043-25050.

155. Piccoletti R, Maroni P, Bendinelli P and Bernelli-Zazzera A (1994) Rapid
stimulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase of rat liver by prolactin. The Biochemical
Journal 303 (Pt 2): 429-433.

156. Pike MC, Spicer DV, Dahmoush L and Press MF (1993) Estrogens, progestogens, normal breast cell proliferation, and breast cancer risk. Epidemiologic Reviews 15: 1735.

157. Posner BI, Kelly PA and Friesen HG (1975) Prolactin receptors in rat liver: possible induction by prolactin. Science 188: 57-59.

158. Postel-Vinay MC, Belair L, Kayser C, Kelly PA and Djiane J (1991) Identification of prolactin and growth hormone binding proteins in rabbit milk. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 88: 6687-6690.

159. Preston-Martin S, Pike MC, Ross RK, Jones PA and Henderson BE (1990) Increased cell division as a cause of human cancer. Cancer Research 50: 7415-7421.

160. Qi W, Gao S and Wang Z (2008) Transcriptional regulation of the TGF-beta1 promoter by androgen receptor. The Biochemical Journal 416: 453-462.

161. Reeder JG and Vogel VG (2008) Breast cancer prevention. Cancer Treatment and Research 141: 149-164.

162. Reznik SE and Fricker LD (2001) Carboxypeptidases from A to z: implications in
embryonic development and Wnt binding. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences : CMLS
58: 1790-1804.

163. Richardson AE, Hamilton N, Davis W, Brito C and De Leon D (2011) Insulin-like growth factor-2 (IGF-2) activates estrogen receptor-alpha and -beta via the IGF-1 and the insulin receptors in breast cancer cells. Growth Factors 29: 82-93.

164. Riegman PH, Vlietstra RJ, van der Korput JA, Brinkmann AO and Trapman J(1991) The promoter of the prostate-specific antigen gene contains a functional androgen responsive element. Molecular Endocrinology 5: 1921-1930.

165. Riley DA, Tan F, Miletich DJ and Skidgel RA (1998) Chromosomal localization of the genes for human carboxypeptidase D (CPD) and the active 50-kilodalton subunit of human carboxypeptidase N (CPN1). Genomics 50: 105-108.

166. Rocha M, Kruger A, Van Rooijen N, Schirrmacher V and Umansky V (1995)Liver endothelial cells participate in T-cell-dependent host resistance to lymphoma

metastasis by production of nitric oxide in vivo. International Journal of Cancer. 63: 405-411.

167. Ross RK, Paganini-Hill A, Wan PC and Pike MC (2000) Effect of hormone replacement therapy on breast cancer risk: estrogen versus estrogen plus progestin. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 92: 328-332.

168. Rossig L, Fichtlscherer B, Breitschopf K, Haendeler J, Zeiher AM, Mulsch A and Dimmeler S (1999) Nitric oxide inhibits caspase-3 by S-nitrosation in vivo. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 274: 6823-6826.

169. Safe S (2001) Transcriptional activation of genes by 17 beta-estradiol through estrogen receptor-Sp1 interactions. Vitamins and Hormones 62: 231-252.

170. Salah Z, Maoz M, Cohen I, Pizov G, Pode D, Runge MS and Bar-Shavit R (2005) Identification of a novel functional androgen response element within hPar1 promoter: implications to prostate cancer progression. FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 19: 62-72.

171. Schoenmakers E, Alen P, Verrijdt G, Peeters B, Verhoeven G, Rombauts W and Claessens F (1999) Differential DNA binding by the androgen and glucocorticoid receptors involves the second Zn-finger and a C-terminal extension of the DNA-binding domains. The Biochemical Journal 341 (Pt 3): 515-521.

172. Schroeder MD, Symowicz J and Schuler LA (2002) PRL modulates cell cycle regulators in mammary tumor epithelial cells. Molecular Endocrinology 16: 45-57.

173. Schule R, Muller M, Kaltschmidt C and Renkawitz R (1988) Many transcription factors interact synergistically with steroid receptors. Science 242: 1418-1420.

174. Shuai K (2000) Modulation of STAT signaling by STAT-interacting proteins.Oncogene 19: 2638-2644.

175. Simental JA, Sar M, Lane MV, French FS and Wilson EM (1991) Transcriptional activation and nuclear targeting signals of the human androgen receptor. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 266: 510-518.

176. Singletary SE (2003) Rating the risk factors for breast cancer. Annals of Surgery237: 474-482.

177. Skidgel RA (1988) Basic carboxypeptidases: regulators of peptide hormone activity. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences 9: 299-304.

178. Skidgel RA and Erdos EG (1998) Cellular carboxypeptidases. Immunological Reviews 161: 129-141.

179. Smith LH, Coats SR, Qin H, Petrie MS, Covington JW, Su M, Eren M and Vaughan DE (2004) Differential and opposing regulation of PAI-1 promoter activity by estrogen receptor alpha and estrogen receptor beta in endothelial cells. Circulation Research 95: 269-275.

180. Song L and Fricker LD (1996) Tissue distribution and characterization of soluble and membrane-bound forms of metallocarboxypeptidase D. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 271: 28884-28889.

181. Stamler JS, Lamas S and Fang FC (2001) Nitrosylation. the prototypic redoxbased signaling mechanism. Cell 106: 675-683.

182. Sutherland RL, Hall RE, Pang GY, Musgrove EA and Clarke CL (1988) Effect of medroxyprogesterone acetate on proliferation and cell cycle kinetics of human mammary carcinoma cells. Cancer Research 48: 5084-5091.

183. Suzuki T, Moriya T, Ishida T, Ohuchi N and Sasano H (2003) Intracrinemechanism of estrogen synthesis in breast cancer. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 57:460-462.

184. Tan F, Rehli M, Krause SW and Skidgel RA (1997) Sequence of human carboxypeptidase D reveals it to be a member of the regulatory carboxypeptidase family with three tandem active site domains. The Biochemical Journal 327 (Pt 1): 81-87.
185. Tan SH, Dagvadorj A, Shen F, Gu L, Liao Z, Abdulghani J, Zhang Y, Gelmann EP, Zellweger T, Culig Z, Visakorpi T, Bubendorf L, Kirken RA, Karras J and

Nevalainen MT (2008) Transcription factor Stat5 synergizes with androgen receptor in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Research 68: 236-248.

185. Thanopoulou E, Schiavon G, Allen M and Johnston SD (2013) Emergingtreatments for metastatic breast cancer: update from 2012. Breast Cancer Management 2:33-45.

186. Thomas LN, Morehouse TJ and Too CK (2012) Testosterone and prolactin increase carboxypeptidase-D and nitric oxide levels to promote survival of prostate cancer cells. The Prostate 72: 450-460.

187. Thurlimann B, Keshaviah A, Coates AS, Mouridsen H, Mauriac L, Forbes JF, Paridaens R, Castiglione-Gertsch M, Gelber RD, Rabaglio M, Smith I, Wardley A, Price KN and Goldhirsch A (2005) A comparison of letrozole and tamoxifen in postmenopausal women with early breast cancer. The New England Journal of Medicine 353: 2747-2757. 188. Timblin B, Rehli M and Skidgel RA (2002) Structural characterization of the human carboxypeptidase D gene and its promoter. International Immunopharmacology 2: 1907-1917.

189. Too CK, Vickaryous N, Boudreau RT and Sangster SM (2001) Identification and nuclear localization of a novel prolactin and cytokine-responsive carboxypeptidase D. Endocrinology 142: 1357-1367.

190. Truong AT, Duez C, Belayew A, Renard A, Pictet R, Bell GI and Martial JA(1984) Isolation and characterization of the human prolactin gene. The EMBO Journal 3:429-437.

191. Van De Weerdt C, Peers B, Belayew A, Martial JA and Muller M (2000) Far upstream sequences regulate the human prolactin promoter transcription.

Neuroendocrinology 71: 124-137.

192. Veronesi U, Boyle P, Goldhirsch A, Orecchia R and Viale G (2005) Breast cancer. Lancet 365: 1727-1741.

193. Veronesi U and Pizzocaro G (1968) Breast cancer in women subsequent to cystic disease of the breast. Surgery, Gynecology & Obstetrics 126: 529-532.

194. Wang DY, Stepniewska KA, Allen DS, Fentiman IS, Bulbrook RD, Kwa HG, De Stavola BL and Reed MJ (1995) Serum prolactin levels and their relationship to survival in women with operable breast cancer. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 48: 959-968.

195. Wells JA and de Vos AM (1996) Hematopoietic receptor complexes. Annual Review of Biochemistry 65: 609-634.

196. Wennbo H, Gebre-Medhin M, Gritli-Linde A, Ohlsson C, Isaksson OG andTornell J (1997) Activation of the prolactin receptor but not the growth hormone receptor

is important for induction of mammary tumors in transgenic mice. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 100: 2744-2751.

197. Wilson GM and Brewer G (1999) The search for trans-acting factors controlling messenger RNA decay. Progress in Nucleic Acid Research and Molecular Biology 62: 257-291.

198. Wink DA, Hanbauer I, Grisham MB, Laval F, Nims RW, Laval J, Cook J, Pacelli R, Liebmann J, Krishna M, Ford PC and Mitchell JB (1996) Chemical biology of nitric oxide: regulation and protective and toxic mechanisms. Current Topics in Cellular Regulation 34: 159-187.

199. Wink DA, Vodovotz Y, Cook JA, Krishna MC, Kim S, Coffin D, DeGraff W, Deluca AM, Liebmann J and Mitchell JB (1998) The role of nitric oxide chemistry in cancer treatment. Biochemistry 63: 802-809.

200. Wink DA, Vodovotz Y, Laval J, Laval F, Dewhirst MW and Mitchell JB (1998) The multifaceted roles of nitric oxide in cancer. Carcinogenesis 19: 711-721.

201. Wong YC and Xie B (2001) The role of androgens in mammary carcinogenesis.Italian Journal of Anatomy and Embryology 106: 111-125.

202. World Health Organization (2008) Are the number of cancer cases increasing or decreasing in the world?

203. Xin X, Varlamov O, Day R, Dong W, Bridgett MM, Leiter EH and Fricker LD (1997) Cloning and sequence analysis of cDNA encoding rat carboxypeptidase D. DNA and Cell Biology 16: 897-909.

204. Xu W, Liu LZ, Loizidou M, Ahmed M and Charles IG (2002) The role of nitric oxide in cancer. Cell Research 12: 311-320.

205. Yamaguchi S, Bell HS, Shinoda J, Holmes MC, Wharton SB and Whittle IR
(2002) Glioma tumourgenicity is decreased by iNOS knockout: experimental studies
using the C6 striatal implantation glioma model. British Journal of Neurosurgery 16: 567572.

206. Yamashita H, Xu J, Erwin RA, Farrar WL, Kirken RA and Rui H (1998) Differential control of the phosphorylation state of proline-juxtaposed serine residues Ser725 of Stat5a and Ser730 of Stat5b in prolactin-sensitive cells. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 273: 30218-30224.

207. Yeap BB, Krueger RG and Leedman PJ (1999) Differential posttranscriptional regulation of androgen receptor gene expression by androgen in prostate and breast cancer cells. Endocrinology 140: 3282-3291.

208. Yu-Lee LY, Hrachovy JA, Stevens AM and Schwarz LA (1990) Interferonregulatory factor 1 is an immediate-early gene under transcriptional regulation by prolactin in Nb2 T cells. Molecular and Cellular Biology 10: 3087-3094.

209. Yue W, Wang JP, Li Y, Fan P, Liu G, Zhang N, Conaway M, Wang H, Korach KS, Bocchinfuso W and Santen R (2010) Effects of estrogen on breast cancer development: Role of estrogen receptor independent mechanisms. International Journal of Cancer 127: 1748-1757.

210. Zhou ZX, Kemppainen JA and Wilson EM (1995) Identification of three prolinedirected phosphorylation sites in the human androgen receptor. Molecular Endocrinology 9: 605-615.